

[Shri Jawaharlal Nehru]

ter of Pakistan and the latter had issued specific instructions to that effect.

After the raiding party left the building, Shri Tewari went through his personal effects and found that the police had taken away with them some of his clothing and other personal effects including service documents and two hundred rupees in Pakistani currency. No inventory was prepared by the Pakistani authorities and none was shown to any member of the High Commission including Shri Tewari who was all along confined in the bathroom.

The Indian High Commissioner protested to the Government of Pakistan against the high-handed action of the Pakistan police which is in complete violation not only of normal diplomatic usage but also of a specific Indo-Pakistan agreement granting diplomatic immunity on a reciprocal basis to all members of the staff of the High Commissions in the two countries. A protest has also been lodged against the unfounded and mischievous reports appearing in the Pakistan Press in this connection.

A reply has since been received from the Government of Pakistan alleging that one Mirza Samiullah Beg, a Pakistan national, who had been discharged from the Royal Pakistan Air Force on charges of espionage, was living in the room which was searched by the Pakistan authorities and that only Mr. Beg's belongings were taken away by them. This reply also denies the statements made by the Indian High Commission regarding the high-handed behaviour of the Pakistan authorities. The reply given by the Government of Pakistan does not correspond to facts. Neither Mr. Beg nor any other Pakistani national ever lived in Shri Tewari's room. There were also no articles belonging to any Pakistani national in that room. The matter is accordingly being pursued further with the Government of Pakistan.

CODE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE
(AMENDMENT) BILL—contd.

Clauses 26 to 38

Mr. Speaker: The House will now resume further discussion on clauses 26 to 38 of the Code of Criminal Procedure (Amendment) Bill, 1954. Of the 5 hours allotted to this group, 34 minutes have already been availed of yesterday and 4 hours and 26 minutes now remain. This would mean that the discussion on this group of clauses will conclude by about 4-30 P.M. when the clauses will be put to the vote of the House.

Thereafter, the House will take up consideration of the next group which consists of clauses 39 to 60, for which 3 hours have been allotted.

As regards the consideration of the amendments, in respect of which I reserved my ruling, I think I shall be able to give it by tomorrow.

Shri Sadhan Gupta (Calcutta—South-East): Yesterday I was trying to explain how the amendment of section 250 which was introduced by clause 34 is an amendment which confers undeserved powers on the Magistrates to award compensation. I said that even the Small Cause Court was not trusted with more than Rs. 1,000 even with civil experience. Here the Magistrate has been given the power to award Rs. 1,000 in a summary manner. We know that no poor complainant ever benefits from such a provision; it is only the poor complainant who is harassed and in view of such a provision no poor complainant could hope to earn Rs. 1,000 by way of compensation because it often happens that richer accused persons manage things in such a way that the police non-cooperate, the witnesses are won over and the case is made out to be frivolous and then that person who had put in a *bona fide* complaint will be made to pay through his nose and will be ruined in the process. Therefore, what we have suggested is the most reasonable thing. We have suggested that the

amount should be only one-tenth of the amount of fine. If the power to impose fines will be raised to Rs. 2,000, the maximum power to award compensation will also be raised to Rs. 200. Beyond this compensation should be sought from Civil Courts and should be recovered from Civil Courts in accordance with the procedure provided in the civil law.

I now come to the blackest provisions in this group of clauses—the provisions in clauses 29 and 35 and the ancillary provisions to those clauses. These provisions are glaring examples of how the rights of the accused have been sacrificed to the whims of the executive. In the name of speed, so many of his rights have been curtailed; in the name of speed, he is asked to face trial with inadequate notice; in the names of speed, charges are framed on the basis of police statements and so many things. Speed is the excuse given to justify this gross curtailment of the rights of the accused. Obviously, the most speedy process would be if you provide that when a police constable or any police officer suspects that an accused is guilty of an offence under the Penal Code, he shall have the right to inflict the appropriate punishment, whether it is death or imprisonment. That would be the most speedy thing, but is that the kind of speed that we want? Do we want speed at the expense of the accused's rights of defence? Must we proceed on the basis that the accused, who has been brought up before the Court, must be guilty and all sorts of obstacles must be put in the way of his proving his innocence? That is the attitude taken and that is illustrated by a number of provisions to which I will come, but before I come to that, I want to smash this argument of speed to pieces. There is no doubt delay in criminal procedure, but what is the reason? Is it because of the commitment proceedings? Is it because of the warrant proceedings? Or do we have to seek for delays elsewhere? Is the procedure delayed because the accused gets a

proper adjournment? Or, is the procedure delayed on account of some other cause? I think it is not very difficult to make out that the delay is not due to the present commitment or warrant procedure. It happened only the other day; a very gruesome murder in this city was committed and the commitment procedure ended in ten days. The case, I think, ended in two or three months' time. Dr. Katju says that he wants precisely this kind of speed. This happened in Delhi. Therefore, there is no reason why it cannot happen anywhere else. There is nothing particularly speedy in Delhi. There is nothing which makes for speed in Delhi or anywhere else. If there is anything, it is certainly not the procedure in commitment. It must be something else. We know what it is. The delay is not because witnesses are examined in the commitment procedure. The delay occurs not because the witnesses' cross-examination is postponed in a warrant case procedure. The delay does not occur because the adjournments are given when the accused has not had adequate notice and cannot find time to prepare his case. The delay occurs for very well-known reasons. Dr. Katju has referred very feelingly to the number of under-trials in the prisons. It is a standing scandal no doubt, but what is the reason for it? Is it because it takes time to take evidence in a warrant procedure or in a commitment procedure? He has not given us any figures. He has not given us any facts. He has not told us how many of these trials have been delayed after charge-sheet and how many of these trials have been delayed in investigations. So far as I know the greatest delays occur in investigations. I have had more than one case. I can give you a typical example. In one case, the investigation took about three years for a simple charge which, I think, was under section 332. A simple charge under section 332 took three years to investigate. It started with very grave charges under sections 302, 307 and 325 and all that, and the accused was confined for one or one and a half years. Then he was let on

[Shri Sadhan Gupta]

bail and then, after three years' time, by the delaying tactics of the police, the trial lasted another one year, and finally resulted in a conviction of three months. Now, that is not an isolated picture. That is the general picture of the reason for delays in criminal cases. In the investigations, the police are out to harass certain persons; they would take time to get remand after remand during investigation, or make the accused go again and again to Court, so that he has to spend money through his nose. After a delayed investigation, either they produce a final report or produce a charge-sheet which does not hold water in Court. That is one source of delay.

The other source of delay is also very well-known. It is adjournment—adjournment against which the Home Minister has directed so many provisions, but the provisions are directed in the wrong line. The adjournments that make for delay are not adjournments obtained at the instance of the accused but adjournments obtained at the instance of the prosecution. What the police do is that they deliberately withhold the attendance of certain witnesses who are involved in that case. I know it is a practice in many mofussil courts that when the accused takes an eminent lawyer from outside and the police know that he cannot keep him beyond a day or two, the police so manage it that the witnesses—at least the important witnesses—who would not stand the cross-examination by the eminent lawyer are kept out of the way for one or two days till that lawyer goes away, and then the case is adjourned. When a case has to be adjourned due to the overcrowding on the file, the adjourned hearing inevitably falls about fifteen days or one month or sometimes months after the original date. That is one source of delay.

[MR. DEPUTY-SPEAKER in the Chair]

What is the other source? Apart from investigation, apart from obstructive adjournments, what is the other cause

of delay? The other cause of delay is that the Judiciary has not been separated from the executive. Today, a Magistrate, in addition to carrying on criminal trials in criminal cases, is supposed to do all other executive acts—to attend to Ministers, to attend to all V.I.P.s, and to do treasury work and so forth, and the Magistrate naturally thinks that those are the more important items of work than the judicial work.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker. Has not the attendance on Ministers been referred to many times on the floor of this House?

Shri Sadhan Gupta: May be; I do not know.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Merely because it is now clause by clause stage, one need not go on saying all that has been already said. If there are any new arguments, they may be advanced.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I am trying to put the argument as a whole. I am not dwelling at great length on it. That is one thing. Has the Home Minister, who professes to be a great champion of speedy trial, tried to remove the causes of delay? Has he tried to limit the time by which an investigation is to be carried on? Has he penalised any investigating officer who carries on delaying and harassing investigation, and goes on harassing the accused in order to delay the trial? He has not done it. Has he tried to penalise the prosecution which deliberately withholds the examination of witnesses because it does not suit them? He has not tried to do it. He has made many provisions restricting the right to obtain the adjournments, but it has been invariably directed against the accused. No provision has been made by which the prosecution may be prevented from avoiding the production of all those witnesses that they are required to produce, so that they will have no further chance for asking for further adjournments. That provision has not been made. But when the accused might ask for an adjournment in order to prepare his case, that right has been

grossly interfered with. What has been provided in both commitment and in warrant cases is that the accused will be furnished by some police officer with certain documents referred to in section 173. That is supposed to be adequate notice. That, as I shall show, is not adequate notice at all. Although he may not be able to prepare the case on that basis, although he may require some time after hearing the evidence, yet, he will not be able to obtain an adjournment or, it will be very difficult to obtain the adjournment. That is the provision made. This is the argument of speed which the hon. Home Minister has advanced, and this is the substance of his argument. In the name of speed, the accused, as I said, is asked to face the trial with inadequate notice of the case or at least with inadequate materials in hand. Apparently, the Home Minister seems to think that a document provided under section 173 is adequate notice, but what is the value of the police statements? In cases where the accused are not known to the persons taking the statement, the statement will not contain even an identification of the accused. So, how can a person, who has been told that say, a dacoity or a murder has taken place at such and such a place at such and such an hour of the night, possibly know what the charge against him is, from such a statement? How is he to know? It is nothing to the Home Minister that he will not know. But he is supposed on those materials to face a trial.

Again, the police statements often contain very inadequate details and many details may be suppressed. Yet, the accused will not have time to prepare his evidence on those materials. Even assuming that police statements recorded do give him some notice, yet, are we not aware that in a criminal trial there are other materials for which section 173 does not provide. What section 173 says is that the officer in charge of the police station will give to the accused person certain documents on which the prosecution relies. Now, what does that mean? He has to give

to the accused only those documents which the prosecution apparently is going to exhibit in Court; otherwise it cannot be said that the prosecution relies on those documents. There are other documents which the prosecution does not rely upon in the sense that they do not produce them in the Court, they do not bring them on the records of the Court; yet the accused may rely on them—the accused often relies on them.

For example, let us take the instance of the report of an identification parade. What is usually done is that the Magistrate is asked when he comes to the witness box as to which witness identified which accused person and he gives his evidence refreshing his memory from the report. That report is not made an exhibit, but the accused makes use of that report in order to contradict certain witnesses who had made a wrong kind of identification before him. There is no obligation on the officer to give that. In the absence of that obligation, the notice becomes absolutely inadequate. The same can be said of a *post mortem* report or an injury report which are often not brought on the records of the Court but is used by the doctor who comes as a witness to refresh his memory. There is no obligation to give him that if the prosecution does not rely on it.

Again, in the name of speed a strange principle has been followed, namely, the statements made to police officers are made the basis of the charge. But it is the elementary principle of criminal jurisprudence that a charge should be based on a *prima facie* case and there can be no *prima facie* case before a Court unless witnesses have sworn to the facts which prove the *prima facie* case. Now, Sir, is the statement before a police officer which is obviously very unsatisfactorily recorded, which is obviously sometimes not the statement of the person at all, should they be the basis of a proceeding which will lead to interminable harassment of a citizen of the country? But that is the thing provided. Then, Sir, in the name of speed, even the

[Shri Sadhan Gupta]

commitment procedure is sought to be made a farce.

Now, Sir, in a commitment procedure it is provided that all the witnesses need not be examined; only the eye-witnesses need be examined. I do not know who put it into the hon. the Home Minister's head that an eye-witness is the most important witness in a criminal proceeding. It often happens that the eye-witnesses are interested witnesses and it is really the corroborating witnesses, those to whom the eye-witnesses immediately reported, may happen to be outside, who may happen to be strangers, it is often their evidence that is the deciding factor. Yet, it is not obligatory to take their evidence. The Magistrate may refuse to take them.

Now even as regards the eye-witnesses, there are certain very interesting procedures: even the eye-witnesses can be shut out if the police want. There is a provision under section 207A as it is proposed that no commitment proceeding should be adjourned merely on the ground of absence of witnesses. So, if the police say that such and such a witness is absent, because he is sick,—it may be that the Magistrate would be satisfied later on that he was not sick—but if the police say so, the Magistrate cannot adjourn the case. He has to continue it and how is he to continue it without the witnesses? Of course, he will proceed on the statements recorded by the police.

Shri Venkataraman (Tanjore): Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Sub-clause (17) dealing with the continuation of the trial in the absence of the accused or some of the witnesses is being deleted by amendment No. 550 of the Deputy Home Minister.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I have not seen that amendment: I do not know whether the entire clause is being deleted.

Shri Venkataraman: Not the entire clause, but sub-clause (17).

Shri Sadhan Gupta: There are two elements in that clause: one is that no adjournment will take place on account of the absence of witnesses and second, there will not be more than one adjournment in any case. It may happen that the police may keep out witnesses not only on one day, but on two days. If the police succeed in doing it,...

Shri N. C. Chatterjee (Hooghly): Both the things are deleted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The sub-clause reads:

"Notwithstanding anything contained in this Code, an inquiry under this section shall not be postponed or adjourned merely by reason of the fact that any witness whose statement is to be recorded under sub-section (4) is absent or that any one or more of the accused is or are absent, unless the Magistrate, for reasons to be recorded, otherwise directs, and the inquiry shall not, in any case, be postponed or adjourned more than once."

Shri Sadhan Gupta: Mr. Venkataraman was expressing some doubt as to whether the whole clause is being deleted.

Shri Venkataraman: Clause means clause No. 29: sub-clause (17) of it is being deleted.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: Very well, so far so good.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Whatever mercies are shown, the hon. Member must be thankful. A compliment is given occasionally. There must be a compliment paid occasionally at least.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: There has been a great brain-wave as regards cross-examination. First, the hon. Home Minister started with the absolute prohibition of cross-examinations in commitment proceedings and also prohibited the right to postpone cross-examination in warrant cases. So far, I think, in warrant cases he remains unchanged but in commitment cases, there is, what I may call, another brain-wave

by which cross-examination will be allowed without of course making it obligatory to produce all witnesses. We know that, perhaps not far from this House, there dwelt an Emperor about 700 years ago who was notorious for his brain-waves. Mohammed Tughlak was his name and he had all kinds of brain waves. People had to suffer untold hardships due to them.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: There is a difference of opinion regarding him. Some people say he was much in advance of his times.....

Shri Sadhan Gupta: Perhaps. Let us expect that history will judge the Home Minister as much in advance of his times but as far as we are concerned, we consider that his brain-waves will make for an immense amount of trouble as Tughlak's brain-waves obviously did.

What is the effect of this new provision? The effect is that, if a witness is produced, he will be cross-examined. Let us say 'an eye witness' with the deletion of sub-clause 17. An eye-witness will always be cross-examined. But there is a proviso. If a statement is recorded under clause 164, he will not be cross-examined because he will not be examined. Then a witness, who is not an eye-witness but nevertheless may be a very material witness, will not necessarily be cross-examined. The point is that there is section 268 in the Criminal Procedure Code which enables the parties to make use of the evidence given at the commitment stage. It enable the party to put in such evidence when the accused has an opportunity to cross-examine the witness. In the commitment procedure as it stands at present, the accused has an opportunity to cross-examine every witness and therefore can, if he wishes, put in his evidence under 268.

Now, the prosecution also can do the same. In accordance with the procedure now provided, the accused can put in only some evidence and cannot put in others. The prosecution—of course that is not a very material point—will be able to put in some evidence

but not others. As far as the accused is concerned, it is a very material point because the police will see to it that witnesses who are not very good students of their tutoring are not brought forward at the commitment stage. Witnesses who are not well enough prepared for the examination may not be produced at that stage, at the preliminary stage and may be reserved for the final examination and then the accused will be deprived of the possible discrepancy in their evidence that may take place. This is the position.

I said it was a brain-wave; I compared it with that of Tughlak but it is only a superficial comparison. What happens really? The motive behind it is very clear. It is that if cross-examinations were denied the accused will not be able to put in any of the statements nor would the prosecution be able to put in any of the statements at the time of trial. But if cross-examination is permitted, the witnesses favourable to the prosecution would be produced before a committing Magistrate and as regards others whose evidence may not be favourable to the accused and whom the police might think to be shaky, would not be produced at the commitment stage. The result will be that it is only the prosecution which will have the benefit of section 268 and the accused will in practice be denied the benefit.

In warrant cases cross-examination is curtailed in the name of harassment; in the commitment proceedings, it is curtailed in the name of speed. Admittedly, in commitment proceedings, cross-examinations, when they take place, are very slight and very small cross-examinations and therefore, they do not contribute to the delay in the commitment proceedings. Why deny this right of cross-examination to the accused? In the warrant procedure, it is denied in the name of harassment.

It is stated that witnesses today do not come to Court because they are afraid of coming twice, or thrice for cross-examination. That is not at all the case. Why do witnesses avoid

[Shri Sadhan Gupta]

Courts today? Summons are sent to attend at 10-30. He waits up to 4 p.m. and the Magistrate informs him that the case cannot be taken up and asks him to come 20 days later, at 10-30 again. 20 days later he comes and again the same thing happens. He has to come 30 days later. That is the reason why people who have some work are scared away from Courts. If the person knew that within an hour or two or three hours of his attending the Court, he would be examined and then in another 15 days' time he would again be cross-examined and let alone, no witness would object to it and would come to the Court. Witnesses do not object because they have to face two examinations; they object because they go to Court uselessly without their being examined and are asked to come once again. That is the real reason why witnesses are scared away. So, I would ask the Home Minister to obviate that difficulty and not to take away the rights of the accused for preparing his case by cross-examination. After all, we know that in a criminal case, the evidence of the witnesses is interlinked and until the evidence of all the witnesses is before us it is impossible to frame the cross-examination in the light of the defence because how do you know which witness will say what after this witness? How can you get from a witness the refutation of what the subsequent witness will say? In a civil case there is the plain written statement.....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I will allow half an hour to each hon. Member if the House agrees because the time is limited; within half an hour all points to be expressed.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: These are important points.....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I have no objection to allow one hour to each hon. Member but in that case only three or four people will be able to participate. Therefore, half an hour will be a reasonable time. I am not going to hustle the hon. Member but they will

have this in mind. I have given him already forty minutes. Anyhow, he can go on because I have not informed him in advance.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: That is what I have to say about the right to postpone cross examination in warrant cases.

To crown all, this Government which claims to be a national Government, asks us to translate every document in the vernacular into the English language when the case is to be committed to the High Court. Possibly, the language of us natives is too disgraceful for the High Court, and we have to translate it into English and send it to them. The excuse is the Constitution. I would have supposed that the Constitution enjoins rather than forbids the ousting of the English language. What the Constitution provides is that for the purposes of the Union, for 15 years, English should be the language. Even then, it provides that the President by order may do something different. If there is any bar in the Constitution, I would rather have supposed that to remove such an obnoxious bar the Constitution would be amended rather than this outmoded British provision should still be retained in the Code.

Another dangerous provision,—I will not dwell on it at length at this stage; I shall reserve my remarks for a future occasion—is the power to conduct the examination of the accused with a view to trap him. That is the provision of the amendments to section 209, which removes a very salutary condition of examination, namely, for the purpose of enabling the accused to explain the circumstances appearing in the evidence against him. In section 207-A also, there is a similar clause where an examination is allowed on a rambling scale. Of course, I shall make my remarks when I come to clause 61. I have given several amendments on behalf of my party and the principle behind these amendments is to safeguard the right of the accused

primarily and to check the supremacy of the executive in the administration of justice. We think that the present commitment procedure and warrant case procedure is on the whole satisfactory. The only improvement that needs to be made in the present commitment procedure is to widen the powers of discharge in Magistrates. What happens today is, the Magistrate may be sure, every party may be sure, that after the way the case has gone on in the Committing Court, there is no earthly chance of conviction in the Sessions Court. Simply because of the fact that the evidence may enable the Court to convict the accused, the commitment has to be made. If this provision was liberalised and the power to discharge was widened, many fruitless cases would not go to the Sessions Court and the Sessions Court would be saved the trouble of trying many worthless cases. We could not effect this improvement through an amendment. Therefore, we have sought to do our best. We have tried to make the two procedures as alike as possible, and to remove the provisions which are obnoxious to the rights of the accused. To enable the accused to prepare the case, we have provided for reasonable adjournments at the request of the accused if he has not been furnished with the statements that are required to be furnished under section 173 and in other proper cases. We have sought to remove the provision for entrapping by way of examination and confined it only to examination for the purpose of giving explanation. We have sought to guarantee the right to cross-examine and the right to postpone cross-examination in warrant cases.

As I said the other day, I must repeat that the initial steps towards fascism are being taken. We know we shall not prevent it from this House. But, I have confidence in the great people of my country who have fought back and worsted a far more potent tyrant than the present rulers can become. The present apostles of British tyranny.....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The present persons who had no hand in it at all.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: They may have a hand in it. But, it is the people who had a major hand in it. Even if they had a hand in it, they have been now false to their old views and old ideals.

Anyhow, if the enormity of the evil that this Code embodies is clear to the people of this country, it will be an evil day to any one who seeks to let loose the law of the jungle by way of the provisions of the Code.

Shri Frank Anthony (Nominated—Anglo-Indians): I propose to confine my remarks to two main clauses, clauses 29 and 35. I have four amendments in respect of these.

My amendment No. 446 seeks to insert the following in section 207-A (1) that the copies should be furnished at least 7 clear days before the recording of the statement of any prosecution witness. I am hoping that the Home Minister will accept this amendment or some modification of it. My purpose is this, I have not been congratulatory towards the Home Minister. But, I think, by and large, this provision about furnishing copies to the accused of the various documents whether they have been recorded under section 173 or under section 164, is a good provision. But, my fear is this. This purpose which is a very salutary one may be stultified if, for instance, these copies are furnished to the accused one day before the evidence is to be recorded. We have a provision here which enables the Magistrate to examine only those witnesses who have actually seen the commission of the offence. There may not be a single eye witness. I shall come to that later. There may be only circumstantial evidence in the case which means that today I am furnished with all the documents and tomorrow the Magistrate begins technically to take up the prosecution witnesses. There is no eye-witness because the whole evidence in a murder case may be purely circumstantial. He may at half past ten o'clock call upon me to make my statement when I have received all the documents only the day before.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: Or the same morning.

Shri Frank Anthony: That is why I say we should prescribe a minimum period between the taking of evidence and the furnishing of these documents. I feel that this is a matter which should receive the serious consideration of the hon. Home Minister.

I come to my next amendment which is 447 to the same clause. It seeks that the following be substituted for the present proposed section 207-A(4). My proposal reads as follows:

"The Magistrate shall then proceed to record the statement of all persons whom the prosecution intend to rely upon as their witnesses, provided that no statement shall be recorded under this subsection of any person whose statement has already been recorded under section 164."

The purpose of this amendment of mine is to restore the procedure in the present section 208, and I believe that this is an amendment which seeks to maintain a very definite purpose. And what is that purpose, and what is the principle implicit in the present section 208 of the Criminal Procedure Code? At present, as the Home Minister knows, under section 208 of the Criminal Procedure Code, the prosecution must produce all those witnesses whom it considers necessary to establish the prosecution case. I think, and I know, the balance of judicial opinion is in favour of the dictum that it is not necessary under section 208 for the prosecution to produce all its witnesses; but judicial opinion definitely does enjoin this that all the witnesses whom the prosecution considers necessary to establishing their case must be produced and examined under section 208.

The Minister of Home Affairs and States (Dr. Katju): Before framing a charge? My experience is that experienced Magistrates only examine one or two witnesses and then straightaway frame a charge.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That is in the warrant cases.

Dr. Katju: I respectfully submit that they are permitted to do so.

Shri Frank Anthony: I respectfully beg to differ from the Home Minister.

Dr. Katju: I am only talking of the language of section 208.

Shri Frank Anthony: The language does vest a discretion in him.

Dr. Katju: In the Uttar Pradesh, that discretion is very often exercised.

Shri Frank Anthony: But it is a discretion which has to be carefully and judicially exercised.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Section 208 refers to committal proceedings. He is referring to warrant cases.

Dr. Katju: I am talking of the warrant case.

Shri Frank Anthony: I am dealing with section 207A in clause 29 of the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: He is referring to warrant cases. Section 208 refers to committal proceedings.

Shri Frank Anthony: I think his contention was that even in committal proceedings, the Magistrate may examine one or two witnesses and commit the man.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: He has not said so.

Dr. Katju: I never said that.

Shri Frank Anthony: Then he concedes my position.

Dr. Katju: I do not concede your position, because I do not understand it.

Shri Frank Anthony: I will try and make myself a little more intelligible. Under section 208, the position is this. That the prosecution in practice under legal compunction is required to produce all the witnesses in the committing Court, whom it considers neces-

sary to the establishing of the prosecution case.

Dr. Katju: Is my hon. friend in favour of shortening the committal proceedings or not? If his view is that the committal proceedings should remain as they are today, then, of course, that is a different matter altogether.

Shri Frank Anthony: I am in favour of shortening the procedure, but I am not in favour of shortening it to the extent of shortening the neck and life of the accused.

Dr. Katju: Please let me know how.

Shri Frank Anthony: I shall proceed logically, but at this particular stage, I am not prepared to shorten it to this extent.

The principle that underlies section 208 is that the prosecution must examine all the witnesses necessary to prove its case. It does not mean that witnesses of a repetitive character should all be examined; it does not mean that if there are eight eye-witnesses, then all the eight must be examined. That is the position even now. But what I have sought to make necessary is this. I have sought, as I said earlier, to maintain the present procedure and practice in section 208. I am seeking to insist that the Magistrate shall record the statements of all those persons whom the prosecution intend to rely upon. What is the reason? The reason is this. Of course, the Home Minister would say, the accused has before him the statement under section 164, and also the case diary. But what is the principle underlying section 208? It is this, that the accused shall have before him in Court on oath the basis of the prosecution case, that he shall not be taken by surprise, and that he shall not be prejudiced by enabling the prosecution, if they want, to patch up their case in the committing Court.

Shri Raghunath Sahai (Etah Dist.—North East cum Budaun Dist.—East): You mean to say that the evidence of all the formal witnesses should also be

recorded in the committing Magistrate's Court?

Shri S. V. Ramaswamy (Salem): Yes. It must be.

Shri Frank Anthony: In the sense that it is not necessary that a formal witness as such even under the present section 208 shall be examined. But it is necessary that all important witnesses necessary to the proper evolution of the prosecution case should be examined under section 208. Today, the Courts raise an adverse inference, if the prosecution do not examine important witnesses necessary to the unfolding and the establishing of the prosecution case. I say that the principle involved is a very real one. If we jettison this procedure, then we will be abandoning a vital principle, namely that in Court the accused must be given notice, as far as possible, of the full prosecution case. There is no point in the Home Minister saying that I have the case diary before me. What is the case diary? Does the case diary give me notice? Of course, it does not. In this amendment, I have made a concession also. I am only saying that those witnesses should be examined, who have not been examined under section 164; if they have already been examined on oath, then it is not necessary to examine them. But I say that all the other important witnesses should be examined before the committing Court. Why? It is because the case diary, in many instances, gives me no notice of the case. I do not know whether the Deputy Home Minister has had notice given by case diaries, in actual experience. What happens in the original Courts? What happens in murder cases? One witness comes and makes a statement. Even that is an abbreviated statement. The other witness comes and says:

“उस शख्स का बयान ताईद करता”

That is all I am confronted with, namely that so and so corroborates the statement of somebody else. What notice have I got of the actual case or of what the witness proposes to say or

[Shri Frank Anthony]

of what is likely to be said against me? That is the greatest objection. What objection can you have to what I am suggesting? I am not asking that later on I should be given the right to cross-examine. I am only asking that this fundamental principle should not be taken away from it. I am only asking for this fundamental right, at any rate, that when I come to Court, all the necessary and important prosecution witnesses may be examined in the committing Court—I am not saying that all the witnesses should be examined, but I am suggesting that only those important witnesses other than those who have already been examined under section 164, should be examined. That is the whole purpose of my amendment. What delay will that result in? If ten or fifteen witnesses are there, and five of them have already been examined under section 164, you merely examine the others. At the least, I want the base, the fabric, or the basic pattern of the prosecution case to be disclosed to me. You do not want to do even that.

My objection to it is this too. Unless this is done, you will get this very peculiar position which we are seeking to introduce in this particular clause, namely that only witnesses to the actual commission of the offence will be examined. I do not understand that. What notice of the case have I got before me? There is no witness to the actual commission of a murder; there is only circumstantial evidence that I was last seen in company with the deceased person, that—as in the Punjab and other cases—I discovered the instrument of murder. That is the only evidence against me, namely that I was last seen in the company of the deceased, that I discovered the hatchet with which the person has been killed, that I discovered the blood-stained weapons, or the blood-stained jewellery or clothing, etc. There is no eye-witness at all. So, no case is to be disclosed to me in the committing Court. I will say your provision is not only untenable, but fantastic. I just do not

understand it. That other day, I was appearing in a case in which even the Chief Justice said that circumstantial evidence was absolutely sufficient for the man to be hung. There was no eye-witness; he was only discovered with the weapon, and the fact that he was last seen in the company of the deceased was quite enough to hang him, but not enough to disclose the evidence to me. I just do not understand it. I am sorry that the Home Minister is not here, but I hope the Deputy Home Minister will attempt to appreciate the point I am trying to make. What is the point of this new provision? Only witnesses to the actual commission. In many cases, not only in murder cases.....

1 P.M.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava (Gurgaon): Other witnesses will also be examined.

Shri Frank Anthony: They can be examined. Why should there be a discretion? I say it is my right that the case on which I am going to be hanged should at least be made known to me on oath, I am not saying that all the witnesses should be examined. I am even conceding that those who have already been examined on oath under section 164 need not be examined a second time.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: You are wrongly conceding that.

Shri Frank Anthony: I am in a mood to make concessions. But here I say I will not go beyond this line. I do not concede that so far as other important witnesses are concerned, witnesses on whose evidence I can be hanged, they should not be examined. My demand is I want that they should be examined. My demand is not an unreasonable one.

[**SHRI PATASKAR** in the Chair]

The Home Minister has asked: do I want to save time? Is my amendment going to waste time? Let us come down to brass tacks. I am not asking about unusual cases. What happens

in an average murder case? I know in many cases you may have 20, 30 or 40 witnesses. But in an average murder case, do you have more than 6 or 7 material witnesses? I say on an average in a murder case, there are not more than 6 or 7 material witnesses.

What time are you going to save by saying 'we won't examine 5; we will examine only 2'? All those 7 witnesses can be examined in chief in one day. Are you going to save time at the expense of neutralising, stultifying fundamental principles, at the expense of taking away a valuable right of the accused? We are not only dealing here with the question of speed; we are dealing here with certain fundamental principles of criminal jurisprudence. Apparently, we are all on common ground in this, that we are wanting to see that justice, as far as humanly possible, prevails—I presume that we are on common ground there. Do not in the name of speed, therefore, withdraw this very real right which the accused had up to now. My friend here says that I have made an undue concession. But I am prepared to make that concession. But I make this minimum request, that the prosecution witnesses, the necessary prosecution witnesses, who have not already been examined under section 164 must be examined before the committing Court.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Suppose they are all examined under section 164, what would happen?

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: They can completely make the section nugatory by examining all the important witnesses.

Shri Frank Anthony: At least there I will have made known to me on oath what the prosecution case is. My objection to this provision not to examine persons other than those who are eye-witnesses may mean that I have no notice of the prosecution case because the only notice that I may have will be contained in the case diary where three or four statements are telescoped into one, and even that statement may be, as I said, in a completely abbreviated form. I want notice of the case

and if it is given to me even under section 164 on oath, then I shall be satisfied.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Even then, it may become absolutely exculpatory. The whole case collapses. You have not got the advantage.....

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: You cannot get a discharge straightway. You cannot say 'kindly consider and give me a discharge straightway'.

Shri Frank Anthony: That is a different matter. I appreciate the point of view put to me by my hon. friend, Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava. It may mean that the proceedings, as far as the accused is concerned, will be protracted and he cannot get discharged. But at any rate, I will be in this position that I know that a certain case has been postulated on oath, and the prosecution cannot patch up the case, they cannot fabricate, and they cannot pervert the case against me. It is important that I should not be taken by surprise, and no opportunity should be given to the prosecution to patch up their case. If I am acquitted or discharged in the committal Court or if I am committed to Sessions—that, to my mind, is not a very crucial matter, provided I am acquitted if the statements even under section 164 are of an exculpatory nature.

My next amendment is No. 453. It asks that in sub-clause (6) of clause 29 the words "and has, if necessary, examined the accused" be deleted. I am particularly anxious that the House should give its considered attention to this particular amendment of mine: I say that even if the Home Minister is prepared to accept my previous amendment, even if he is prepared to insist, as at present, that all the necessary prosecution witnesses who have not been examined under section 164 shall be examined by the committing Magistrate even if that concession is made, this amendment of mine which says that the accused should not be examined should be accepted.

Shri Venkataraman: In order to cut short this argument, may I draw the

[Shri Venkataraman]

attention of the hon. Member to the amendments moved by Shri Datar? That restores the right of cross-examination. They are amendments Nos. 545 to 550. Amendment No. 545 reads:

"The Magistrate shall then proceed to take the evidence of such persons, if any, as may be produced by the prosecution as witnesses to the actual commission of the offence alleged; and if the Magistrate is of opinion that it is necessary in the interests of justice to take the evidence of any one or more of the other witnesses for the prosecution, he may take such evidence also..."

Shri Frank Anthony: Then the examination of the accused.....

Shri Venkataraman: Evidence would mean examination in chief, cross-examination and re-examination.

Shri Frank Anthony: Under this present clause?

Shri Venkataraman: Also kindly see amendment No. 546.

"The accused shall be at liberty to cross-examine the witnesses examined under sub-section (4), and in such case, the prosecutor may re-examine them".

Shri Frank Anthony: I have not understood my friend. The point I am trying to make is this, that the accused should not be liable to be examined at all in the committing Court. That is the purpose of my amendment.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: I think there is some misapprehension.....

Shri Frank Anthony: The words to be omitted are "and has, if necessary, examined the accused". These are the words that my amendment seeks to delete. I do not want to be examined at all in the committing Court, and my reasons are two-fold. I say that if the Home Minister concedes my request—and that is that all the necessary prosecution witnesses are examined in the committing Court—even then, the accused should not be liable to be

examined. I do not want it—whether it is mandatory or whether it is within the discretion of the Magistrate. I do not want it and I say that my request is well taken. I say that it is wrong, and it is more wrong when you do not examine all the prosecution witnesses. to make me liable to disclose my defence. Even if you examine all the prosecution witnesses, then I say it is a travesty of recognised criminal procedure and jurisprudence that I should be called upon to disclose my defence until at least I had the right to cross-examine. I am not saying, you are taking away my right. I say, 'all right; if you are in such a tremendous hurry, you carry on'. I do not know where we are going to carry this country in this tremendous hurry.

Mr. Chairman: Which amendment is the hon. Member referring to?

Shri Frank Anthony: Amendment No. 453 in list No. 16. I say that even if all the prosecution witnesses are to be examined—as I am asking that they should be examined—even then the accused shall not be liable to be examined. You save time. I do not want to be discharged unless the prosecution case fails, and I am not going to be discharged on my statement. So, if you want to save time, I am giving this concession to your sense of speed. I say, at least meet me half way in showing a reasonable sense of justice. Why am I asking that the accused shall not be examined until the prosecution witnesses are examined? How can he tell you anything when he is raising the plea of self-defence in a murder case? You ask him: "What is your defence?" and he says: "I am not guilty". Then you go on to examine him at large. I am not going to make any specific plea before having cross-examined the prosecution witnesses trying to extract from them the fact that they were the aggressors; trying to extract from the medical witness the fact that the injuries on my person were made either by a lathi or a sharp-edged weapon. Before I am asked to disclose my de-

fence I must at least have the opportunity to pin down the prosecution witnesses in terms of my defence. Is it not an elementary right? If this is carried through in the face of the present truncated examination, then I say, it is not only reactionary, it is something which is a monstrous perversion of the fundamental principle of criminal jurisprudence.

Shri Raghubir Sahai: Is there any change from the present procedure?

Shri Frank Anthony: My friends have not at all understood me or they do not understand the present procedure. I am sorry for my friend's lack of understanding, or perhaps I have not been able to make myself clear. He is trying to make it appear as if I am opposed to any change. I say: "Take away my right of cross-examination." I am giving up another right: "I do not want to be examined". I am taking it on a rational basis and on a basis well-founded in criminal jurisprudence. I only want that I should not be examined. Is that asking too much? How can I disclose my defence unless I can cross-examine the prosecution witnesses? It may be allright for an official who has never conducted even a simple hurt case, for an allegedly eminent lawyer who has never conducted a sessions case to talk *in vacuo* or for arrant ignoramuses to take that course. Who will allow his clients to make defence unless he has been able to pin down the prosecution in terms of defence? The Home Minister—he is not here—says that the average lawyer in a murder case reserves his defence. I do not know whether the Home Minister did like that, but the law has changed since he used to practice. Today if the defence is reserved in a murder case, in the High Courts where I have practised, adverse inferences are raised in every case. It was always asked, and asked to the acceptance of the Judges of the High Court, why the accused, when he had an opportunity in the committing Court did not disclose his defence. Then adverse inferences are raised against him, not only at that time but

also at the back of the accused. I was amazed when the Home Minister said this. It has never been the practice to reserve defence in a committal Court. What I say is: now you are taking the plea of speed. All right, if your police is a *bona fide* one, I am making this concession. You do away with my examination. But, is it your purpose to pin me down? Is it your purpose to give sanctions to the prosecution? If that is your purpose, then you examine me and pin me down before the prosecution has disclosed itself. That is something utterly objectionable. After all, by this provision, what am I asking the Deputy Minister to do? I do not want this right of cross-examination. Do not force it on me for God's sake. I do not want it. It is not a right, it is a liability. It will lead me to the gallows. You have your truncated procedure if you like. Do not examine me. Examine me after I have a right to cross-examine the prosecution witnesses in the Sessions Court. Am I asking too much? Unless the Government today insists on making this a 'Police Bill', insists that I should be on the rail-road to the gallows, then I say, you cannot examine me. You want speed and for that I am making this concession. Do away with my right of cross-examination. I am only asking you on the basis of elementary justice, on the basis of elementary fair-play, not to insist on my disclosing my defence before you have given me an opportunity of cross-examining in terms of my defence. What will happen today? You examine one eye-witness and you will ask me to make my statement. What will happen in the Sessions Court, I know. My whole defence will be forestalled there because every witness will be tutored and coached to forestall my defence and if I do not make my defence statement then you raise adverse inferences saying: "You had an opportunity of stating your case in the committing Court; you did not do it". Whatever course you want to adopt, you may adopt and hang me, take away my right of cross-examination. I only want that you examine me after

[Shri Frank Anthony]

I have cross-examined in the Sessions Court. I am asking that with all the earnestness at my command. I am not here giving any concessions to legal practice. I am only asking for an elementary principle to be recognised even at this late stage.

My next amendment is number 455. I was not very happy about this because I do not know how evidence could be recorded in the absence of the accused.

Shri Sinhasan Singh (Gorakhpur Distt.—South): There is already an amendment by the Government to this clause.

Shri Frank Anthony: That is why I am not pressing this amendment.

[SARDAR HUKAM SINGH in the Chair]

Sir, I now come to clause 31. May I say this in passing that here again I would ask that this proposed amendment may not be carried through? There was a very real reason behind the original provision. The present provision in section 342 is that the accused person should only be examined in respect of certain evidence appearing against him. There is a definite principle involved, and that is that the examination of the accused should never be taken on the nature of cross-examination and that it should never be of an inquisitorial character. If we take away these particular words as is being sought to be done, it means that the examination of the accused can be at large. There will be nothing to fetter the discretion of an examining Court and it may take on the nature of cross-examination. He may be examined with respect to a sort of lacunae in a prosecution case. He may be examined in such a way as to patch up the prosecution case and I believe there is a consensus of opposition to this, not only from this side, but also from lawyers in the Congress benches who have actual experience of the original course.

Now I come to clause 35. I have four amendments under this clause. This is with regard to the procedure in warrant

cases on a police report. My first amendment is number 457. By this I want that the words:

“and making such examination, if any, of the accused as the Magistrate thinks necessary”

be deleted. This is more or less on a par with my amendment to clause 3 in 207-A. Here again, if the procedure is to be shortened in the name of speed, I say: “All right, shorten it”. But, I have asked that the accused should not be examined. He should not be liable to examination unless he has had the opportunity to cross-examine the prosecution witnesses. That is why, in the next amendment, in clause 8, I have proposed that his examination should take place after the cross-examination of the prosecution witnesses. Here again, I believe that my request is a reasonable one. I am only to be examined once and I am requesting that I should be examined in a warrant case after the cross-examination has been made, so that at any rate I will be able to extract the defence, I may put my plea to the prosecution witnesses, I may examine them in detail in terms of my proposed defence and then give my defence when I am in a position to make it. I am hoping that this amendment of mine will also be accepted.

Shri N. S. Jain (Bijnor Distt.—South): Never.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Hoping against hop..

Shri Frank Anthony: In my amendment No. 458, I have said in sub-clause (8), “Upon taking all the evidence referred to in sub-section (7) and making such examination, if any, of the accused, as the Magistrate thinks necessary, the accused shall then be called upon to enter upon his defence.....”

I have heard a sort of ejaculation from the other side ‘Never’. If the approach to this is going to be rigid and obstinate or a party or executive one, then God help this country. We are purporting to frame some principles

of justice for our people and when I ask for an ordinary reasonable procedure which is in consonance with the juridical practice in civilised countries, they say 'Never'. That means we have no juridical practice and in fact we have no civilised conscience. The people who can say 'Never' have not the right even to make a claim to being ordinary civilised people in government.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Have we no right to disagree with you? You are proposing to change the entire section 342 and you do not realise that, and yet you say we are rigid. You have no right to say that.

Shri Frank Anthony: My hon. friend agrees with me, but yet he agrees with his Party.

Shri U. M. Trivedi (Chittor): I agree with you in the principle, but the difficulty of law is there.

Mr. Chairman: This type of conversation should not take place and if any hon. Member wishes to speak, he should get the Chair's permission.

Shri Frank Anthony: I am being interrupted like this, but I shall finish in five minutes. I have made this request not light-heartedly or irresponsibly. I have made the request that my examination should take place after I have had the opportunity of cross-examination. My hon. friend Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava, I am glad to see, in an undertone agrees with me.

In my amendments Nos. 459 and 460, I have requested that in clause (9), the words "on his behalf (other than a witness already examined)" should go, and after the words "for the purpose of examination" the words "or cross-examination" be added. I have given these amendments in order to make the law—at least this provision—a little intelligible. What are we seeking to do in these new proposals? We are going to give the accused only one right to cross-examine. The present procedure, we know, is that he has

usually a right to cross-examine before charge, and at any rate he has a real right to cross-examine after charge, and that under section 257, the Magistrate has been given the discretion and he may allow him to cross-examine even then. But what are we doing now? Under the present clause 9—my own reading is this—after the accused has cross-examined, he has only one right and even the Magistrate has no discretion even if the Magistrate wants to recall certain of his witnesses for further cross-examination. I just do not understand this. I only have one right. Today I have a right to cross-examine. Because of that first cross-examination I have the full picture before me. Then I know exactly what I need for the purpose of the second cross-examination and I know which witnesses I want and what cross-examination is likely to be. We know today that it is impossible virtually to exhaust the cross-examination in one and only one process of examination. Today you say 'No'. The lawyers are such infallible people and they are such ingenious people that they will be able to cross-examine fully and do full justice to the accused in this only one process of cross-examination! You are taking away one after another the rights of the accused. You take it away; I understand the mode or approach of the Government, but I say "You take away my second right of cross-examination but you are also doing away with the discretion of the Court. You do not trust me, you do not trust the lawyers, you do not even trust the Court, but you only trust the police." I say that you do not trust even the Magistrate.....

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Is he addressing the Chair?

Shri Frank Anthony: I am saying this through you to the Government. You do not trust even the Magistrate, but look at the preposterous and incongruous position that arises. The last witness comes in the witness box. I may in cross-examination extract from him that the first witness did not say this or the first witness said

[Shri Frank Anthony]

this or that and so on and there is no provision made for me to recall, even with the discretion of the Magistrate, the first witness for cross-examination. This provision is a fantastic nonsense. Anything more absurd, puerile and childish you can never conceive. You do not even allow the Magistrate the discretion to recall that witness. The last witness appears and says something and it has a vital bearing on what is said by a witness who appeared earlier—first or middle. Now I cannot cross-examine him. You do away with my second right, but at least give that right to a reasonable Magistrate, who is not completely bereft of knowledge, and do not divest him of that right. I do not understand how we are holding ourselves out to the country as responsible framers of a system of criminal jurisprudence. We are not even allowing this discretion to the Magistrate. That is the whole problem. I may have spoken strongly because I feel strongly, but in this matter there is no question of this party or that party and I am only asking in this particular matter to face the realities and what actually happens. How can we provide for every contingency? How can we exhaust every necessary piece of cross-examination? Today you are taking away all the rights which normally were insisted upon and which in fact the Britishers gave to this country. You in your larger wisdom feel that you should take them away, but at least give the discretion to the Court. If the Court feels that it should call a witness for the purpose of examination, it should have the discretion to do so.

Shri R. D. Misra (Bulandshahr Distt.): Sir, I had great hopes that this Criminal Procedure Code will be amended and it will be simplified, but we could not succeed. We attempted in the beginning by giving instructions to the joint Committee to go through the whole of Criminal Procedure Code but they could not find time to do it. This time too we tried, but failed. I had

given my proposals for the consideration of the Government and those proposals are printed in Supplement D on pages 113 to 162. I had suggested to the Government that we must simplify our procedure. We have now different types of procedure at present—summons procedure, warrant procedure, summary procedure, commitment procedure and so on. For the trial of an accused person, there must be one simple procedure. Now, we are dealing with commitment proceedings. These are serious offences which are triable by Courts of Session. In these cases, the Magistrates make preliminary enquiries and thereafter commit the cases to sessions. Experience has shown that these proceedings are now worthless.

An Hon. Member: Question.

Shri R. D. Misra: The Magistrates do not exercise their right of discharge because the High Courts have held that the Magistrates have got no authority to discharge the accused persons even when they find that there is no *prima facie* case. They can not give any sort of benefit of doubt, they must commit the case to the sessions. This is not only my opinion, but it is the opinion of the highest judiciary in India. You may read it. This is the opinion of Justice Mehr Chand Mahajan, the Chief Justice of India. It is published at page 318 of Supplement C of the opinions. He says:

“Commitment proceedings at one time, when conducted according to the Code, performed a very useful function, both from the point of view of the accused as well as from the point of view of the prosecution and they were a safeguard against unnecessary criminal trials in the courts. But unfortunately, owing to a number of decisions given by the High Courts, that the magistrate's duty is to commit the accused to the sessions and not to discharge them, the utility of these proceedings has considerably been affected. The provision of the Code which gives the magistrate full

power to discharge an accused person when he is satisfied that there is no *prima facie* case against him, has become a dead letter."

There is another opinion from the same Supreme Court. It is the opinion of Justice S. R. Das. It is printed at page 334 of this volume C. He says:

"Nevertheless it has to be admitted at the present time, the committal proceedings involve more often than not, a useless waste of time, for the committing magistrates have become a mere post office or a mechanical conduct pipe through which a prosecution reaches the Sessions Court. For this state of things the High Courts are to a very large extent responsible, for according to some of the decisions, the committing magistrates are enjoined to commit the accused to the Sessions if there be "a scintilla" of evidence on the record. If the High Court allows the committing magistrate to exercise their proper discretion and does not interfere too much with the decisions of the committing magistrates under sections 209 and 213(2) of the Criminal Procedure Code, then committal proceedings may work quite satisfactorily. Before doing away with this important safeguard, an attempt should be made to remove the effect of the High Court decisions on the lines referred above."

Shri S. V. Ramaswamy: From what State does that case come?

Shri R. D. Misra: This is the reply of those two Judges to the letter circulated to them by the Government of India. They gave their opinion and they have expressed in black and white terms what should be done in this regard. But I am sorry to find that the Government of India has given no weight to the opinion of these Supreme Court Judges, to the opinion of the High Court Judges, to the opinion of the State Governments, to the opinion of the highest and distinguished jurists of India and to the

representations which were made to them. They have never cared to read them. I have tabled my amendments, but nobody cares to read my amendments. Nobody cared to read my representation.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: It is quite wrong. I have read every one of them.

Shri R. D. Misra: You might have read. I do not mean the Members of Parliament. I mean the Secretariat—the Secretariat of the Home Ministry whose responsibility is to advise the Minister that such and such proposals have been made by such and such persons, that they are nice ones. But they do not care. They only advise according to their light, and say go and argue in Parliament according to our lights.

Mr. Chairman: The hon. Member may be of the opinion that his amendment was very nice and that notice might have been taken of it. But opinions may differ.

Shri R. D. Misra: All right, Sir.

Pandit K. C. Sharma (Meerut Dist.—South): That is his misfortune.

Shri R. D. Misra: It might have been studied by the Home Ministry, but my impression has been that they care little. Nobody has regard for these legislators. They—the Government—have their own opinion about themselves. They think they are experts and masters of their own jobs.

The Deputy Minister of Home Affairs (Shri Datar): We have the highest opinion.

Shri R. D. Misra: Thank you. You were all fellow-travellers with us. I find that after these representations which were made on the Criminal Procedure, the Code of Criminal Procedure (Amendment) Bill, was sent to the Judges for opinion and the Judges replied to the Government's letter. That reply is also published in one of these volumes. There, the Supreme Court Judges only wrote that they do not want

[Shri R. D. Misra]

to give any opinion. Why? The Supreme Court Judges did not like to give their opinion on your Criminal Procedure Code, and they gave a reply to your original letter only which was sent to them earlier. They considered that it would be a waste of time. They gave their opinion on the elaborate letter of Dr. Katju, the Home Minister. They gave their opinion in detail, but when they found that at the time of enacting this Bill, their views were not taken into consideration, they thought that it is simply a waste of time to give their opinion. They will decide the matters when they come before them, as Judges. Then they will declare that this section is illegal, *ultra vires*, void. You are framing this clause 29 to amend section 207 of the principal Act regarding commitment procedure. You have half-way admitted that these proceedings should be dropped. But you have really kept the proceedings alive. For the complaint cases, the procedure laid down in Chapter XVIII of the Criminal Procedure Code should be followed, while, if the case is prosecuted by the police, this new procedure of Dr. Katju is to be followed. Up to this time, we had only one commitment proceedings. Now we will have two different ones. Up to this time, we had a simple procedure. Now, we will have not only a compound procedure, but a complex procedure.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Complicated.

Shri R. D. Misra: Complex means complicated. It has been further complicated. It is a complication. Now, we will have a complex procedure of commitments. Why are you having these two sorts? If I report in the *thana* that such and such murder has been committed, and if I find that the police officer is not enquiring into it properly, he is not prosecuting the accused, I go and file a complaint. If I file a complaint, then Government

has got no expenditure to do at all. I will have to engage a counsel, I must produce the witness, give evidence, etc. Thereafter if the Magistrate comes to the conclusion that the case has been made out, that the accused should be called upon to explain and issues process, then too, further proceedings have to be undergone under Chapter XVIII. All the witnesses have to go again and depose before the Court. Thereafter the accused will be committed to the Sessions, and then again the witnesses will be called for a third time in the Sessions Court. Why? Is it not the case of murder? But it is case in which a policeman is won over by a party. If prosecution is launched by police, only the papers will be given to the accused. There is no right of cross-examination. All witnesses will be examined behind their back, because, they will be examined under section 164. The proviso says that no statement shall be recorded of any person whose statement has been recorded under Section 164. The accused shall have a right of cross-examination. It means nothing because, witnesses examined under section 164 shall not be produced. So, not a single witness will be produced. All witnesses will be examined under section 164. If some foolish police officer does not produce any witness who has actually seen the offence for examination under section 164 then that witness may be produced before the Magistrate. If any foolish lawyer cross-examines such single witness he will lose his case in the Sessions Court, because the prosecution will know the line of defence. Anybody who knows criminal law, as practised in a criminal court knows that we have to prove the innocence of the accused in the case not by the defence but from the prosecution. The case is proved by the prosecution and through the prosecution the defence is to decide his case. The actual fact comes out of the mouths of the prosecution. After hearing the examination, whether it is true or false, the accused establishes his own case

through cross-examination and thereafter gives his own defence. If there is some lacuna in the prosecution, they produce the defence witness; otherwise not. In a large number of cases no witness is produced by the defence.

[PANDIT THAKUR DAS BHARGAVA in the Chair]

My submission is what for are you keeping these two types of procedure? Article 14 of the Constitution says that all shall be equal before the law. Why should there be any discrimination. For the same crime, the Police is governed by section 207A. But if it is a private complaint he will have to undergo all the ordeals. Why should there be difference in treatment? If an accused is prosecuted by the police, then he will have no right of cross-examination under commitment proceedings. He will go direct to the Sessions. But if he is prosecuted by a private complainant, then he will have three rights, four rights. Why should there be harassment to the accused as well as harassment to the complainant? We must have a simple procedure?

If you want to keep the committal proceedings, please keep them in the form you have laid down in section 207A and apply it to both complaints as well as to the police cases. Further, in sessions case, there is one section of the Indian Penal Code that is worth mentioning; it is section 218. That is, if a public officer frames a false record then he can be prosecuted under section 218. Generally *patwaris* are prosecuted under that section. That offence is non-cognizable: the police cannot make an enquiry. At the same time, that offence is triable by a Court of Session. In that case, a person whose possession has been wrongly written by a *patwari* has to file a complaint under section 218. The Magistrate will take evidence whether the *patwari* has committed

such offence or not, and satisfy himself. If after taking all the documentary and oral evidence, the Magistrate comes to the decision that the *patwari* has committed that offence, then he issues summons or warrant as the case may be for the trial of the case. The case will come and then again the proceedings under Chapter XVIII will be conducted. Thereafter the *patwari* will be committed to sessions. It is only punishable with three years imprisonment. Here the law forces a man to file a complaint of a case which is triable exclusively by sessions. In such cases, I submit that we must have a similar procedure for both kinds of cases.

There will be a further complication. There is section 159 of the Criminal Procedure Code. If a police officer does not make an enquiry in a criminal case and reports to the Magistrate that the case is not proper for investigation the Magistrate has got an authority to enquire into the case himself or appoint any other Magistrate to investigate the case. In that case what will the Magistrate do? If the Magistrate thinks that the offence has been committed and that is triable by sessions, what procedure will be followed in that case, according to your section 207A or Chapter XVIII? Then again we have sections 346 and 347 of the Code. There if the Magistrate thinks that the case should be tried by a superior Court, by a Sessions Court, what procedure shall be followed in that case? My submission is that there are so many complications. If the Magistrate considers at a certain stage that the case should be committed to Sessions under section 346 or 347,.....

Mr. Chairman: Also 478.....what procedure will be followed.

Shri R. D. Misra: Yes, also 478... what procedure will be followed in such cases. My submission is that the same procedure should be followed

[Shri R. D. Misra]

in all cases. If the case is to be committed, omit the case in a simple way; give all the papers which are required to the accused to inform the case against him. For this purpose I have tabled my amendment No. 477.

As regards summary cases and summons cases, I have tabled an amendment No. 113. Petty offences and technical offences under section 34 and also against local laws, are punishable with imprisonment of less than six months. They are generally tried by Third Class Magistrates and Second Class Magistrates. There, the witnesses and the accused have to go to Court day after day. Their cases are not taken; they are harassed. In such petty cases generally the accused pleads guilty and the Magistrate inflicts a fine of a few rupees. There might be one case in a thousand where the Magistrate might have inflicted a punishment of imprisonment of a month or two. The procedure in these cases should be simplified. When the Magistrate issues processes under section 204 he should go through the papers and see whether the offence is punishable with a simple fine or the accused should be sentenced to more than Rs. 50. If he comes to a decision that the ends of justice would be met by inflicting a fine up to the maximum of Rs. 50 the Magistrate should be authorised to pass a provisional order that the accused is fined a particular amount. If he pleads guilty to the charge he may deposit this amount of money, before the date fixed for the hearing of the case. If the accused deposits the money, the case will be disposed of. If the accused considers himself not guilty, or thinks he is falsely prosecuted, he may appear on that day and contest his case.

The hon. the Home Minister said that the principle underlying this amending Bill is that the guilty should be punished but every person should be provided with facilities to defend himself and no innocent man should

be punished. My submission is that if the accused pleads guilty why should you call them to court? Give them the option. Let them pay a fine. The time of the Court will be saved; the harassment to the accused will be saved. But if they think that they are falsely prosecuted, they have been falsely implicated, full opportunity should be given to the accused so that they may defend themselves. It is not fair that all murderers, rape committers, dacoits and committers of heinous crimes should be given an opportunity of proper defence of sessions trial, commitment proceedings, warrant cases, and the persons who are prosecuted for petty offences be not given proper facilities for defence.

Why these innocent poor people who are not guilty should not be given? This is the mischief of British jurisprudence? Their maxim is that hundred criminals may escape but no innocent man should be convicted. This maxim is applicable only to criminals, big criminals who committed heinous offences but this maxim is reversed when it is applied to the persons who are alleged to have committed only petty offences. When they themselves are ready to plead guilty then why harass them. But in cases where the policeman falsely prosecutes an innocent person to extract money, there you deny justice. There the maxim is: let hundreds be convicted but no criminal should escape. My submission is: if you want summary procedure, have summary procedure. Convict a large number of cases by this provisional order and when the accused comes and claims to be tried because he has been falsely prosecuted, he should be given proper facilities for his defence. He should be tried according to the procedure which is laid down in warrant cases today. This procedure of warrant case is a recognised one. The accused must hear the evidence; he must cross-examine the witness; he must give his statement and thereafter his defence.

I do not grudge the sort of British justice which has been quoted by our Dr. Katju in his letter. But, I resent the remarks that in India witnesses speak lies—nothing but lies; the police man speaks lies and the witnesses, prosecution and defence—all speak lies, but in England—what happens? He has written in his letter—it is printed on page 26, volume C—Opinions on Criminal Procedure:

"In a warrant case the essence of the procedure is that the accused hears the evidence against him first and then when a charge is framed against him he is called upon to cross-examine witnesses. This procedure is by no means very dilatory, provided, of course that the Magistrate applies his mind to the case, and does not adjourn the case repeatedly because his file is too heavy or he has got some other work to do. I must also emphasise one fact that lamentably in India owing to a variety of cases, factions in villages, lack of public co-operation with the administration of criminal justice, distrust of the police force, absence of social conscience, perjury is rife and I do not envy an Indian Magistrate who has to decide day in and day out criminal cases before him. In England an accused is brought before a Magistrate, the police constable gives evidence against him, the Magistrate looks up and makes a caustic remark and concludes by saying 'two months' and the case ends and substantial justice is done. Here every police constable is supposed to tell nothing but lies and so also almost every prosecution or defence witness."

This is a libel against the people of India. You think that all people in England speak truth while the Indians speak lies. It is not so; Indians do not speak lies. Their motto has been:

‘सत्यम् वद अधर्मम् चर’

‘Speak the truth and follow the law’. But today on account of being slaves of British rule, the motto has changed:

‘असत्यम् वद अधर्मम् चर’

‘Speak falsehood and do not follow the law.’ This is the practice prevailing today and this is due to the British. They framed and enacted this Criminal Procedure Code. In this Criminal Procedure Code.....

Mr. Chairman: May I just remind the hon. Member that he has got many amendments. It would be better if he speaks on some of the amendments rather than making a speech which is in the nature of general observations.

Shri E. D. Misra: My submission was that we are discussing criminal cases. The first stage of a criminal case is investigation. After getting information, the police inspector makes enquiries. What does he do? He has to examine witnesses under section 161. There, no responsibility is cast on the witness to speak truth. The result of it has been that the High Courts in India in unanimous terms have declared that the witnesses are not legally bound to speak the truth to the police officer. When there is no duty cast upon the witness to speak the truth, how can they speak? Further, there is no responsibility on the prosecuting inspector to frame the record correctly. No guarantee has been taken. So, at the first stage, the investigation is nothing but a fabrication. The Courts do not believe it—Criminal Procedure Code, Section 162 does not believe it. It is only meant for some other purpose; it is not to be believed or produced. Your Evidence Act does not believe it; Courts do not believe it. Here, you have heard what the lawyers and vakils had said. They all had been criticising that whatever the police write, it is nothing but false. We have

[Shri R. D. Misra]

to change this system in such a way so that the people of India may have confidence in their police and in their records.....

An Hon. Member: Is it possible under this clause?

Shri R. D. Misra: I have given my amendment; it is still pending. That clause is still coming; it may come tomorrow before you. I have to propagate for that clause. I am appealing to Dr. Katju...

Mr. Chairman: We are considering the other clause, today.....

Shri R. D. Misra: Yes, yes. By the way, I was giving it out. As regards warrant case, my submission is that this warrant procedure should be the same for complaint cases as well as for police cases. There should be no difference. Whenever in appeal or otherwise this discriminatory procedure goes to the Supreme Court, the accused will plead article 14 of the Constitution and these sections will be declared *ultra vires*. That is your sections 207A and 251(A), the new procedure you have added, and the 13 sub-clauses and the 17 sub-clauses of these sections—all are nothing but the copies of the other sections of the same chapter. You have not taken this thing into consideration. You must have made a simple procedure for the trial of cases. My appeal is to accept my amendment that these procedures should be the same for all sorts of cases whether they be of a complaint case or whether they be on a police initiation. For that I have moved amendments. I have given another amendment relating to section 204. I am asking the House to accept this amendment of mine that the complainant should not be forced to appear on every date of the trial. If he has engaged a counsel for himself, then there must be no obligation on the complainant to remain present on

every date of the case. I have submitted that this should be provided in section 204 that if there is a counsel representing the complainant, there is no need for him to be present.

2 P.M.

Shri Raghubir Sahai: I think they have accepted it.

Shri R. D. Misra: No. As the attendance of the accused is dispensed with, similarly, it should be provided for the complainant too. Then, there is a consequential amendment. If the House accepts my amendments the procedure would be simplified. This procedure of mine is on the same principle which is laid down in section 207-A and 250-A. Hence those sections ought to be altered. There must be the same procedure for all cases. The other sections of Chapter XX and XVIII can be altered instead of these sub-sections. I want a simplification of the procedure. If you have gone through my procedure which I have submitted—it is printed as Annexure D to my Memorandum printed in Supplement D of opinions of Criminal Procedure—you would see that there are only 15 clauses and they are to substitute all your sections from 241 to 309 of the Criminal Procedure. If you are not going to simplify the procedure, we shall have this complicated procedure; please don't make it a complex one.

Pandit Munishwar Datt Upadhyay (Pratapgarh Distt.—East): That is a Code by itself.

Shri R. D. Misra: It is a Code by itself. I have given all my amendments. I am submitting all this so that the Government may be kind enough to accept my amendment and make the procedure a simple one.

Mr. Chairman: Pandit K. C. Sharma. I would request him to be very brief.

Pandit K. C. Sharma: I shall be very short.

Pandit Munishwar Datt Upadhyay: I must say that the time should be shortened for each speaker. If every Member takes half an hour, others may not get an opportunity.

Mr. Chairman: The first Member took 15 minutes; the second Member 40 minutes; the hon. Member who spoke last took 31 minutes.

Pandit Munishwar Datt Upadhyay: There are persons who take a shorter time.

Mr. Chairman: At the same time, the House will realise that since very important sections, clauses 26 to 38 relating to the procedure in commitment and warrant procedures are under discussion, after all, some time would be taken. I will be guided by the House. If the House wants a curtailment of the time, I have no objection. As the hon. Deputy-Speaker said, half an hour is not unreasonable.

Pandit K. C. Sharma: Half an hour will do. I have made my points just in the beginning. I stand by them and I raise my voice on behalf of the unfortunate people who have the misfortune to stand in the dock. The principle on which I raised objection against the proposed amendments with regard to the commitment and warrant procedure is that in modern jurisprudence, the tendency is to take most crimes as civil wrongs, and to take the serious crimes, as my hon. friend the previous speaker said, as heinous crimes, as criminal crimes. Therefore, it is no use sending people to jail on offences which are the result of social conditions, which proceed from the man's getting off his feet or getting beyond controlling himself. Suppose a man is placed in conditions that he cannot make both ends meet, and he passes with a friend and picks up a watch, it is a civil wrong. What is the use of sending a man who can-

not earn a living, to jail and making him a confirmed criminal? My respectful submission is that the law as it stands gives ample opportunity for the unfortunate people whose misfortune is to stand in the dock in cases in which, in essence, the offence is a civil wrong. It does not reveal a criminal tendency as such; it does not reveal danger to society; it has not affected the security of the State; it does not bring down or demoralise the morale of society. In such cases, it is no use sending the man to the jail and making him a confirmed criminal.

Shri Raghbir Sahai: Which clause or which amendment is the hon. Member discussing?

Pandit K. C. Sharma: I am discussing these amendments with regard to the commitment and warrant procedure. My argument is that by taking away the original opportunity of cross-examination, you are sure to send the man to jail and condemn him for offences which are the result of social conditions. This is the principle I am arguing about.

My next point is, the Constitution ensures every citizen equal protection of law. I refer to article 14 of the Constitution. What does equal protection of law mean? Protection against what? Protection against a man's liberty being taken away or his life being extinguished? Protection is against wrong against the liberty or life of a man. Protection is not because a man is prosecuted by a private citizen or he is *challanned* by the police. As I said before, there are two cases. A man commits murder. The police does not *challan* him because it does not believe the witnesses who tell the story before it or it finds that the case is not such as has been told to it. A private complaint is lodged. Another man commits murder. A police prosecution starts. In one case, the man

[Pandit K. C. Sharma.]

has the right to cross-examine the witnesses at the commitment stage. Then, he has the right to produce his defence and if he convinces the Magistrate that there is no *prima facie* case, he is discharged. In another case, he has no right of cross-examination. Some papers are produced and the man is sent to the Sessions Court, and he has to stand a long-drawn trial. Every day that he has had to stand before the Sessions Court and defend himself, further than it was necessary for a discharge before the Committing Magistrate, is a wrong against him. Suppose he has to stand before the Sessions Court for two months and had it been a case before the Committing Magistrate, he would have been discharged in 10 days, my submission is that the 50 days that he has stood in the dock before the Sessions Judge is a wrong to the man.

Dr. Katju: May I just intervene? Is it my hon. friend's contention that there is commitment proceedings for 10 days, and 60 days are taken by the Sessions Court? Have you heard of such a case like that?

Pandit K. C. Sharma: The ruling of the Allahabad High Court is that it is not necessary at the commitment stage to record all the evidence. It may be possible that some substantial witnesses are examined in the committing Magistrate's Court and the case is sent up. In the Sessions Court all the witnesses are examined. Suppose there is a riot case, there are 300 witnesses. It is not necessary for the Committing Magistrate to examine all the 300 witnesses.

Shri Raghbir Sahai: What is the present practice?

Pandit K. C. Sharma: Even the present practice is to examine the substantial witnesses: not to examine all the witnesses.

Shri Raghbir Sahai: It is not the practice.

Pandit K. C. Sharma: The instance I have given is not certainly beyond possibility. What I mean to say is that the constitutional right of equal protection of law to a citizen is denied in the case of prosecution by the police as against prosecution on private complaint. Therefore, it violates the letter and spirit of law. My second contention is that by taking away the two opportunities of cross examination, you are denying to the accused the right of defence. As I contended previously, the words used are 'procedure laid down by law', in article 21 of the Constitution. Despite my hon. friend Shri N. C. Chatterjee's interruption that it has been held by the Supreme Court that law there does not mean natural law, my contention is that when these words were used, the understanding was that the word 'law' would be used in the same sense, to the extent possible, as the words 'the law'. Otherwise, there is no limit to the tyranny of the majority. 'The law' means something, which 'law' does not mean. I shall put a direct question. Suppose A, a man, marries B, a woman; and suppose this Parliament passes a law by the tyranny of the majority that B would not go to the bed of A, but B would be compelled to go to the bed of D under the law of the majority, I ask: Is such a law possible? It is not possible. It will lead direct to a bloody revolution. What is the use of going at random and doing everything without regard to certain fundamental questions? 'Law itself implies something definite, harmony, certainty, and an appeal to the civilised conscience. So, my contention is that the word 'law' as used there, means that every accused will have the right of self-defence, i.e., the right of defending himself. Now, defending himself means two things. Bringing the defence witnesses is one thing, and testing the veracity of the witnesses or of the evidence against him is the second thing. How is he to

test the veracity of the witnesses against him? He employs two methods for testing the credibility of the witness, namely whether a witness is such that he can be believed; he cross-examines him, and puts him questions, whether he was present on the spot, whether he is telling the facts as he observed them, whether he has been coerced to tell a story, whether he is prejudiced against the accused, and so on. This is one stage of cross-examination. The second stage is to explain away the facts or evidence against him. So, on the first opportunity of cross-examination in a warrant case under section 252, and in committal proceedings in sessions cases, the accused tests the credibility of the witnesses. And at the second stage, under section 256 in warrant cases, and cross-examination in sessions cases, he builds his own self-defence, and he tries to explain away the facts that are against him. The whole record in the sessions cases, and the statement of the witnesses, are before the lawyer; and he builds his story which can explain away the things; he can build a defence on those very facts. Suppose a man is *challanged* and it is said, the firing took place, the *mar-peeet* took place, the houses were burning, a big crowd of 300 people was there, and it is admitted that A was there: but A says, well, I was there, but I was going just to post my letter. After the whole story has come on record under section 256 in warrant cases, and in sessions cases before the Sessions Judge, the accused explains away the facts against him.

These two opportunities are necessary, and law as it stands, procedure as it stands, give ample opportunity to the accused, if he is innocent, to get himself acquitted. Therefore, this right should not be taken away. I am very emphatic upon it that whatever changes may be made, so far as this right of cross-examination under section 252 in warrant cases and at the stage of committal proceedings in sessions cases, is concerned, it is a

right which should not in any case be taken away. Situated as we are, this is very necessary, and this has ample justification. It is something worth the cause of justice. To my mind, taking away these safeguards would mean taking away the right of defence of the accused, which would be against the letter and spirit of the Constitution, and also against the spirit and essence of law, as it is understood in civilised countries.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: I will not take a long time in speaking on these clauses. But what has struck me is this. Instead of providing for these two different provisions, why not be very blunt and say, we are going to do away with committal proceedings? Why should the Home Minister be chary about it? Why should he not come out and say forthright, we are doing away with all these commitment proceedings and the *challan* or the police report will be directly submitted to the Sessions Judge? Why have one procedure so far as complaints by private individuals are concerned, and quite another in cases where the policeman files a report? Both amount to the same thing, and the same type of proceedings are to begin under these circumstances, why discriminate between the two? This is the first discrimination that is sought to be made. The second discrimination is this. In one case, the proceedings will be under section 207 and the new section 207A, while in the other case, it will be under section 251. You are bent upon depriving the accused of his opportunity of cross-examination. In other words, a novel type of procedure is to be laid down, an inquisitorial type of procedure is to be laid down, saying that whatever the police say is truth, whatever the police has put down is the truth; and the policeman may record anything, and that will come in as truth.

Mr. Chairman: In commitment cases, according to the new amendment of

[Mr. Chairman]

Shri Datar, the right of cross-examination has been given.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: In which has he suggested?

Mr. Chairman: In commitment cases, according to the new amendment moved by Shri Datar, the right of cross-examination has been conceded.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Conceded to the accused?

Shri N. S. Jain: It is amendment No. 545.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: I take it that sub-section (4) of proposed section 207A is being altered. Formerly, the accused was not at liberty to put any questions to the witness.

Shri N. S. Jain: There is amendment No. 546 to that effect.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: But I am told that the proviso to sub-section (4) still remains.

Shri N. S. Jain: Yes, the proviso remains.

Mr. Chairman: Shri Datar's amendment is in substitution of lines 4 to 13 on page 9 of the Bill.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: The proviso reads:

"Provided that no statement shall be recorded under this sub-section of any person whose statement has already been recorded under section 164."

That still remains.

Mr. Chairman: According to that amendment, this remains.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: So, the mischief still remains. You, Mr. Chairman, have been a lawyer of long standing, and so has been our Home Minister. Probably he seems to have forgotten those days when he used to appear before some smaller Courts.

Shri N. S. Jain: He never appeared before small Courts.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: That is why he does not know. Those who can pass through the big holes always forget that small things also can pass through the big holes.

Dr. Katju: What is the small hole and what is the big hole? I do not quite follow the small hole and the big hole.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: You need not follow them.

Dr. Katju: I have learnt to follow many things, but not this big hole and the small hole.

Mr. Chairman: He says that the hon. Minister has forgotten the days when he used to practice in Courts other than the High Courts.

Dr. Katju: I have conducted cases before the Magistrates, cases before juries, cases before Sessions Judges, and also cases before Honorary Magistrates. In fact, my very first case was a criminal case.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: I thank the hon. Home Minister for the very valuable information he has given. I am saying that some time at least, he might perhaps be reminded of those days then, he will realise that these statements under section 164 are worthless, and useless. They are not worth the paper on which they are written.

Dr. Katju: Very good. Why should the accused bother about it?

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Statements are recorded under section 164. The policeman accompanies the man, he holds out certain promises to him and under these circumstances only statements under section 164 are recorded.

Dr. Katju: May I intervene? How is the accused damaged by that statement? Statement under section 164 is no evidence against the accused.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: I am sorry; perhaps the hon. Home Minister forgets that this very provision in section 207 says that it shall be a statement against the accused.

Dr. Katju: No, not at all. You are misleading.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Let me have my say. You are not going to allow any opportunity of getting that witness to be cross-examined or even produced before the Magistrate, and the whole thing goes on record as a statement for and on behalf of the prosecution. It may come out in the Sessions trial when the man is being jeopardised, when his whole liberty is being jeopardised and he may be able to expose the hollowness of the whole statement. But still, *prima facie*, to begin with, why charge him with something and make him undergo a defence.

Mr. Chairman: In regard to that, their authority is to prove that the statement under section 288 is taken. Then that statement can be utilised for the purpose of corroboration also.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Exactly. I do not say that it is not used for that purpose also. But the mischief is there. No Judge worth his salt is prepared to agree that the statement under section 164 should have such a right of precedence that that should not be allowed to be cross-examined, whether the statement under section 164 has been properly made or not, at the initial stage. This mischief is now being introduced into this clause.

Mr. Charman: According to other hon. Members and also according to the Home Minister, all that is wanted is that the accused must know what the case is.

Dr. Katju: That is it.

Mr. Chairman: This can be supported on that ground alone. If the accused wants to further.....

Shri S. S. More (Sholapur): But will not that statement go to influence the mind of the committing Magistrate?

Mr. Chairman: It will.

Shri S. S. More: To that extent, it prejudices his case.

Mr. Chairman: What difference does it make? After all, under the present law, the benefit of doubt is given to the prosecution in commitment, in all cases in which there is a possibility of conviction.

Dr. Katju: You have put it very well.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: You don't know him yet.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: There is possibility of some serious offences having been committed. We are depriving him of an initial stage whereby an accused person can easily get off with a slight explanation, just as the speaker who spoke before me, Pandit K. C. Sharma, said. The slightest explanation will possibly do away with the *prima facie* evidence that may be put forward before the Magistrate under section 164. I remember a case where witnesses in one committal proceeding went on saying—they were just tutored, they were witnesses who were never on the scene—that 'standing at such and such a place, they saw the accused committing that particular crime'. The statement under section 164 was there recorded. It so happened that there was a huge temple in between. One slight question was put—'were you standing near that big temple?' The answer was 'yes'. Then, That temple is nearly 10 feet high. Could you see anything beyond that? It was impossible for anybody to see. There was an inspection by the Magistrate. So I say, why jeopardise the position of the accused person simply because he has been charged with a heinous crime. Where is the money for him to put up the defence? Whenever cases are conducted before Sessions Courts, senior counsels have got to be engaged. Smaller people like

[Shri U. M. Trivedi]

Mukhtiar and others can conduct cases before the Magistrates. They are frightened out of their wits whenever committal proceedings have taken place. They have to appear before Sessions Courts. If you insist upon this, that this will be a method of speedy trial, I very respectfully submit that you are in the wrong. Perhaps many speakers before me have reiterated this position and I hope the hon. the Home Minister—he has admitted before us that he had been a lawyer himself—would see his way in not insisting upon this new provision. Let the provisions of clause 207 (a) and (b) be done away with.

Then there is one thing which I would like the hon. the Home Minister to explain. The language of clause 207A, sub-clause (6) is:

“When the statements, if any, have been recorded under sub-section (4) and the Magistrate has considered all the documents referred to in section 173 and has, if necessary, examined the accused, and given the prosecution and the accused an opportunity of being heard.....”

Then at another place, in sub-clause (7), it is stated:

“..and the accused being given an opportunity of being heard”.

I think the idea underlying this is that they might be allowed to address the court. But why do you not say it in so many words just as we have done in the case of the Civil Procedure Code? In the Civil Procedure Code we have used the words ‘addressing the court’; here we are using the words ‘an opportunity of being heard’. This ‘being heard’ has been interpreted at various places in America and England as ‘getting a proper hearing’. ‘Proper hearing’ may include producing evidence and cross-examination of witnesses. So if that is not the object in view and you do not want to create

merely a legal tussle and legal trouble later on, why not be very specific about it and say that they may be allowed to address the court? Why create a sort of trouble not only for lawyers but for the accused to run after something? Why not say that this is the position? I think under Order XVIII ‘Hearing of the suit’...

Mr. Chairman: This point is absolutely clear because the right of cross-examination is given separately. The right of producing evidence is not given. It automatically means one thing—the right of being heard.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: I do not challenge your interpretation. You are a lawyer. You know perfectly well that the view which I wish to place before the House is also a possible one. Why use the language which has been interpreted before time and again at various places where jurisprudence has held good, that this word ‘hearing’ has got only a specific meaning? Even under the Civil Procedure Code, the heading of Order is ‘Hearing of the suit’. ‘Hearing of the suit’ always means examination of the witnesses and cross-examination of the witnesses, and Order XVIII, rule 2(2) says:

“The other party shall then state his case and produce his evidence (if any) and may then address the Court generally on the whole clause”.

[SARDAR HUKAM SINGH in the Chair]

If we want to allow only the opportunity of merely addressing the court, why should we not put it down in such a specific language that the accused or the prosecution shall have the right of only addressing the court and not the right of being heard? This word ‘hearing’ under the ordinary connotation of law will mean hearing *in toto*, hearing fully. ‘Hearing’ means giving him a day to allow him to produce his witnesses, to examine all those witnesses and to cross-

examine them and then address the court finally. These are all included in the use of the word 'hearing'.

Then I will draw the attention of the House to another proviso to sub-clause (11) of clause 207A. When the committal is to take place before the High Court, then of course some liberty is given to the accused person to produce his list of witnesses before the High Court and if he has not been able to file the list of witnesses before the Magistrate he may have an opportunity now. But this is being changed, the moment the proceedings are to take place in the Sessions Court. More than that, the Magistrate is left to decide upon the list of witnesses. It is said:

"Provided also that if the Magistrate thinks that any witness is included in the list for the purpose of vexation or delay, or of defeating the ends of justice, the Magistrate may require the accused to satisfy him that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the evidence of such witness is material, and if he is not so satisfied, may refuse to summon the witness (recording his reasons for such refusal), or may before summoning him require such sum to be deposited as such Magistrate thinks necessary to defray the expense of obtaining the attendance of the witness and all other proper expenses."

All the handicaps we can find are put against the poor accused person. If there is any doubt in the mind of the Magistrate, he will have to produce the witness and the Magistrate has to be satisfied what evidence he is to give. Why should the Magistrate try to know it beforehand? What are the methods by which he will know? He will ask the witness to be produced, affidavits to be produced and in the affidavits the witness should show what type of evidence he is likely to give and then give up all the defence and part of the defence will be disclosed to the

prosecution. This power is not given to the Magistrate if the committal proceedings are to take place before the High Court. Why this differentiation? If we can trust the High Court to do justice in a similar case, why should we not trust the Sessions Court to do justice in a similar case. Leave it to the Sessions Judge and leave it to the High Court. They have ample powers to refuse to examine witnesses who are likely to defeat the ends of justice. But, this proviso leaving it in the hands of the Magistrate at the initial stage for forcing the accused person to disclose what type of evidence his particular witness is going to give is a very great injury contemplated against the poor accused person. Then on top of it, we have absolutely no provision that in all cases his expenses should be paid. Here something more is added; that he shall be made to deposit all the expenses that may be necessary to be incurred for summoning such witnesses. It will work very hard upon the poor accused. The criminals are never rich persons. Only very few rich persons are there who are criminals and such persons can always do mischievous things. They will never undergo this trouble of going before a Sessions Court. They have other means of getting out before the police can get hold of them. We are talking of those persons who will find themselves in this position, that poverty having driven them to commit a crime, they will find that poverty will again stand in their way of getting a fair trial.

Under these circumstances I submit that a proper note must be taken of this position in the law that is enacted. Any law that is enacted should not be placed against the poor accused persons.

With these words I support the amendments.

Shri Tek Chand (Ambala-Simla):
Mr. Chairman, when I heard my hon. friend Shri Frank Anthony my reac-

[Shri Tek Chand]

tion was twofold. I was inclined to agree with his criticism but not with his caustic remarks against the party of which I happen to be a Member. I find myself in complete agreement with his facts and the analysis of those facts, but not with his oblique criticism.

Sir, the clauses which are being tagged under this group are rather important. It is a matter of extreme satisfaction to me that the hon. Deputy Minister, Shri Datar, has tabled an amendment number 546 to clause 29, sub-clause (1); otherwise, I feel that the accused as the mute and immutable pillar of flesh and bone would have been there getting no help for himself and not even being permitted to open his lips as much as to raise an objection to the nature of the questions put. So far, so good. But, I wish to invite the pointed attention of the hon. Home Minister to sub-clause (6) of clause 29, wherein he says that the Magistrate after considering the documents referred to him under section 173, and after recording the statements of the witnesses as are produced, is given the power to examine the accused. In all humility I pray him to reconsider this. Accused is being called upon to enter upon his defence before prosecution evidence is complete. If speed is the desideratum, let the accused be examined after he has been committed or give this option to the accused either to make his statement then and there if he so desires or to defer his statement after the entire prosecution evidence has been recorded. It will be in the interest of speed if you do not examine the accused. A suggestion possibly is that you are conferring a boon on the accused. Pray, withdraw this favour. Accused likes to open his lips when the entire case against him has been placed in court. There is another thing. While inviting the pointed attention of the hon. Home Minister to sub-clause (6), I also wish

him to examine the provisions of clause 35, sub-clause (2) side by side, which also provides:

"If, upon consideration of all the documents referred to in section 173 and making such examination, if any, of the accused as the Magistrate thinks necessary.."

These words are susceptible of abuse. The accused so far has had the privilege of making that much statement under section 209, sub-section (1) as goes to meet the prosecution evidence. We delete the most important words:

"When the evidence referred to has been taken, and he has (if necessary) examined the accused for the purpose of enabling him to explain any circumstances appearing in the evidence against him..."

The object of calling upon the accused to open his lips was that, if there is anything in the prosecution case which he may like to explain away, he is given an opportunity to have his say. But, this protective clause you are taking away. And, what is more, you are giving complete option to the Magistrate to put such questions to him as he may like. What will happen? The accused will be—I do not say necessarily in all cases but there is certainly a risk in a large number of cases—put all sorts of questions. All sorts of incriminating questions will be put to him which are of the nature of cross-examination. The questions put to the accused will be prone to be more inquisitorial than with a view to seek information or elicit such facts as he may be in a position to volunteer. Both these clauses do not put any clog on and do not restrict the power of the Magistrates as to the nature of the questions he may put to the accused with a view to examine him. I want exunction of these words. I want that the free liberty that is being given to the Magistrate to put any question to the

accused under these clauses should be restricted, and the protective words as occurring in section 209, sub-section (1) ought not to be deleted and ought not to be expunged.

So far as sub-clause (17) to clause 29 is concerned, I think a certain error has crept in. Possibly a situation may arise which may lead to certain difficulties which has not been visualised so far under sub-clause (17).

Shri Dabhi (Kaira North): That has already been deleted.

Shri Tek Chand: If I understand my hon. friend who just now intervened, that sub-clause (17) is no longer part of the Bill, then I am very happy and I have got nothing more to say.

Shri Raghubir Sahai: There is an amendment.

Shri Tek Chand: That is good enough. Then kindly see that in clause 31 those words are omitted. I feel that clause 31 must be omitted; otherwise, the only safeguard that the accused has got will also disappear.

Regarding clause 34, I have got two submissions to make. There again, it appears that due to inadvertence a possible situation has been overlooked. In clause 34, under subsection (2) of section 250, you enlarge the powers of the Magistrate to impose by way of compensation not a stated sum but half of the amount of fine he is empowered to impose. You have overlooked, I submit, the very large number of instances of offences wherein the ceiling by way of fine is not provided. A very large number of offences are there where it is within the competence of the Magistrate to impose any fine that he likes—whether it runs to six digits, five digits or four digits. You are fixing your attention to the cases of those offences only where the amount of fine is specified

523 LSD

and you tell the complainant that he can obtain by way of compensation an amount not exceeding half of the amount of the maximum fine provided for that particular offence. For the sake of facility, the hon. Home Minister has only to turn to the schedule attached to the Code of Criminal Procedure and to find a host of offences where the extent of the fine is unspecified. Therefore, this is a matter that requires a certain amount of vetting and closer attention.

Regarding section 250, I have to say a lot on the point of principle involved. Section 250 is an apology which the prosecution owes for having prosecuted an innocent man. Look at the hurdles you place in the way of the Magistrate before he can do justice to the accused who has been not only falsely accused, but against whom there is no foundation at all for the charge.

Firstly, section 250, even as it was, has been eaten away and simply diluted by the limitations imposed there. Compensation is not available against the State; compensation is available against the private complainant only. Compensation is not available where the prosecution is false and where the whole case has been concocted. Where the prosecution evidence has been fabricated, the accused can demonstrate that to the satisfaction of the learned Court, but the learned Court will be helplessly writing its hands and say "Though I concede that the complaint is false, evidence concocted and the whole thing shameful, I cannot give you any support unless you further prove that it was not only false but it was also frivolous, or in the alternative, not only false but also vexatious. In one way anybody may put it to me "Any criminal prosecution is vexatious and why bother about it?" But if you were to peruse the decided case law, the interpretation given to the word "vexatious" is that they were deliberately and intentionally

[Shri Tek Chand]

done with a view to cause vexation or harassment—not automatically they have resulted in harassment or vexation—but they were intended to be so at the inception, the object being that he should be harassed. That alone is 'vexatious' within the contemplation of section 250. Regarding the 'frivolous' part of it, if one has to probe into the earlier history of the Criminal Procedure Code, the words 'frivolous or vexatious' till 1923, were made 'frivolous and vexatious'. But in all fairness to the innocent man whose innocence has been demonstrated to the hilt, is it not sufficient that the accuracy should be proved to be false? What is the frivolity about it that one must necessarily prove? You have got to see that it was false and frivolous, that is to say the whole thing was instituted out of feelings of frivolity, the complainant wanted to be frolicsome, he wanted to have some fun, he wanted to have a mockery of the trial. Whether it was mockery or whether it was something else, how can you insist upon this impossible test? Now, I pray that if the hon. Home Minister could spend a minute upon the relevant section of the Criminal Cases Act of England he will find the extent to which the law has become generous there. Originally, as a matter of fact, it is a century old law in England,—the first Act having come into force in 1858—and the main Act came in 1908. Now, they have a consolidated Act called Cost in Criminal Cases Act, 1952. Section 1 and section 6, subsection (2) of this Act are worthy of close scrutiny. Therein it is provided that if it is found that a person, accused has been acquitted, he is entitled to compensation against the prosecutor, whether the prosecutor happens to be a private prosecutor or he happens to be a State, prosecuting as such. In either case, under the provisions of that law—pray I must not be misunderstood: when I say that it is the Cost in Criminal Cases Act, 1952, it is an Act which is made up-to-date, though it is a century old law in

England—a man who has been innocently subjected to the harassment of a criminal trial is entitled to compensation. He is entitled to costs. We have been very niggardly qua an innocent man, a man who has been able to demonstrate his innocence. There is no reason why he should not be given some costs, some compensation, in some proportion as this august House may like to fix.

Regarding clause 35, I have only this much to say. You are giving right of one cross-examination to the accused. I personally consider that you are not being very fair to him. But if the accused were permitted to hear the statements, hear the evidence of all the prosecution witnesses—let us assume that the prosecution is going to lead seven or eight witnesses for the prosecution—you should allow the accused to say, if he so desires, "Please conclude the examination-in-chief of all your witnesses. But do not compel me to cross-examine every witness as soon as the examination-in-chief of a particular prosecution witness is concluded. Permit me to reserve cross-examination of the whole lot together, one by one, after the examination-in-chief is concluded." The result will be that instead of three rights of cross-examination that the present law allows him, you can confine that right to one cross-examination. I am contented, you must not compel a prosecution witness 'A' who has come and stood in the witness box, to be cross-examined immediately after his examination-in-chief. "But, after you have done with him, you are not going to recall A again." This might have an effect on the following witnesses—the witnesses who are to follow who may disclose a lot of pep. If you have an opportunity to cross-examine A, you deduce some additional material whereby you may be able to demonstrate or establish your innocence. This was as contained in the original Bill when it came

up before the Select Committee. Either permit the accused the right of two cross-examinations as the present law allows or if you are going to confine his right to one cross-examination only, pray give him this much option, that it will permit him to say to the Magistrate, "Sir, I abide till the entire lot of prosecution witnesses are finished. Then give me just one right of cross-examination. One by one, I shall cross-examine them." This is a compromise. I hope this is commendable to the Government, because, so far as their object is concerned, their object is served by restricting the right of cross-examination to one occasion only. The only possible objection that I conceive they might say is, the witnesses have to be brought together. They might have to come up again for cross-examination. When putting into the scale the ordinary advantages of a more just and fair trial to the accused, I think—that consideration—ought not to weigh with the Government.

Lastly, I have just one word of comment to make regarding clause 35, sub-clause (10). You expect the defence to bear the expenses incurred in calling his witnesses. If the principle still holds good—that the man is assumed to be innocent—the State must offer to him every facility to establish his innocence when the State is going to the extreme to establish his guilt. In the matter of expenses, it will be an uncalled for burden upon the accused that he must bear the expenses of demonstrating his innocence. With these words, I conclude.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: To start with, I must express my great sorrow at the fate of this Bill. When it was said in the papers that the hon. Home Minister was bringing in his new Bill, the whole country thought that judicial reforms are to be ushered in by the Government. I was myself very happy when I came to know that the commitment pro-

ceedings would be done away with, because I thought this meant. . . .

Pandit K. C. Sharma: That was a mistake on your part.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: May be it was a mistake. I accept it. But in view of what follows, the hon. Member will soon realise that it is a mistake on his part to have said so.

I feel that the hon. Home Minister rightly complained to this House that at present, in sessions and other cases, the number of convictions is not satisfactory, the percentages of convictions are not satisfactory. He rightly complained before this House that there is undue delay in the disposal of cases. This undue delay was in many cases the cause of real injustice to the prosecution as well as the accused. If the accused is innocent, when under custody, and if he is going to be acquitted, the acquittal is delayed. So far as that provision is concerned, there is much more time for the accused to tamper with the witnesses, and this is the real reason why speed is quite necessary. Apart from other causes, my own opinion is that we would have at least got ten to 15 per cent. more convictions in sessions cases if this commitment stage was not allowed to have its course as it is now having. Similarly, my own view is that if this commitment stage was obliterated, we might have saved crores of rupees. I do not even mind the savings so much, but I do care that if the cases are not disposed of with the utmost speed, then the difficulty is that nobody realises that justice is being done. If, in a sessions case, the accused comes before the Sessions Court after a year or so, even if he is convicted, then the people in general do not realise the connection between the conviction and the commission of the offence. As the case goes slow, as the disposal of the case is delayed, the sympathy of the people in general also goes with the accused. They forget that the

[Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava]

offence was committed. It is from that point of view that when the hon. Minister sent his Bill to the country, there was such an amount of support to him that I should think his original idea was supported perhaps more than he himself imagined. His first reaction was that he did not want the commitment procedure. Then, he sent his Bill to the country. With your permission, I shall just read out the names only who supported it. The Government of Bombay supported it. The Government of Madhya Bharat supported it. The Punjab Government fully supported it. The Government of Uttar Pradesh supported it. The Government of West Bengal supported it. The Government of Rajasthan supported it. The Saurashtra Government supported it. Bilaspur, Delhi, Himachal Pradesh, Manipur and Orissa supported it. That is so far as the States are concerned. Only one State, Madras (page 144) did not support it. In regard to the opinion expressed by High Court Judges and Sessions Judges, the preponderance of opinion was in favour of this view that I think we are doing a wrong thing in not adopting it. Shri Satalvad, the Attorney-General of India supported it; the Bombay High Court agreed; Justice Mudholkar of the Nagpur High Court supported it; Justice Falshaw of the Punjab High Court and other High Court Judges of Punjab supported it; Justice Mahapatra of the Orissa supported it; Shri M. C. Desai, I.C.S., Judge, Allahabad High Court supported it.

3 P.M.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: Dr. Katju does not support it;

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: It is his own proposal.

Then the Judicial Commissioner, Ajmer, Judicial Commissioner, Bhopal, Advocate-General of Rajasthan, Judicial Commissioner of Kutch and a very large number of Sessions Judges

supported it. They know what they mean. They fully realise the implications of it. When I see the preponderance of opinion expressed by persons who had much to do with this commitment procedure, I think the brain wave which has been ascribed by my hon. friend to the Home Minister was a nice brain wave. It was supported all over the country. Only some bar associations did not support it. If you kindly read pages 143 to 167 of Supplement D you will be pleased to see that there is such a large preponderance of opinion in favour of the view that I must submit that what I stated to start with at the time of the consideration stage is perfectly true. Left to himself Dr. Katju would have maintained it, because he wants speed. But the misfortune is that some hon. Members of the Joint Select Committee did not like it. I do not blame them. It is only a question of one's feeling in the matter. I have expressed my view on the subject; my hon. friend Pandit Krishna Chandra Sharma does not agree with me. What I maintain is that there is such a large volume of opinion that the hon. the Home Minister would have been perfectly justified in coming to the decision that there should be no commitment stage at all. I am of that view even now and I do not think any useful purpose would have been served by this Bill if you continue to have this commitment stage even now. Therefore, I have given notice of two amendments which I would ask the House to seriously consider.

Dr. Katju: Number?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Nos. 390 and 395.

As I said before and as the House knows, there was an Act called the Punjab Public Safety Act in which there were similar provisions; there was direct commitment to the Sessions Court from the Public Prosecutor or the Police; there was no commitment stage at all. This law worked very well and has been tried also.

In my amendment No. 395 I have tried to put the wording in the provisions of the Public Safety Act. I may in this connection say that it was at the instance of the Punjab Government that the provision that there should be no commitment proceedings was originally incorporated in the Bill. The opinions of the Sessions Judges are given in the pages I have mentioned. The Delhi Sessions Judge Shri Kapoor has expressed his view that this has worked very well.

Shri Raghbir Sahai: The Punjab Government have changed their opinion now.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Have they? I am rather surprised. All the High Courts are of this view. The Punjab Government itself suggested to the hon. Home Minister that they had this provision in the Public Safety Act and the law should be changed.

Mr. Chairman: The whole amendment was undertaken at the initiative of the Punjab Government.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: This was admitted by the hon. the Home Minister himself on the floor of the House.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Is that Act still in existence?

Shri S. V. Ramaswamy: Was it an emergency legislation?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: It was for a short time; otherwise the Punjab Government would have had no occasion to write to the Home Minister.

I would therefore suggest that my two amendments may be considered by the House in all seriousness. I know that the law has been changed at the instance of the Joint Select Committee. I have some hard words to say about the Committee. I do not wish to wound anybody's feelings, but that is my opinion. When it was announced that there is going to be a reform of the criminal procedure, I

was very happy. I am at one with the hon. the Home Minister that speedy justice should be secured. . . .

Pandit Munishwar Datt Upadhyay: Not at the cost of justice.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am coming to justice also. As at present witnesses are tampered with. The Select Committee has been pleased to alter these provisions.

[MR. DEPUTY-SPEAKER in the Chair]

The Select Committee recommendations have been very rightly altered by Shri Datar in one important respect. I thank him for that. I do not want the accused to stand like a mute figure in a Court of law, the accused standing there without uttering a word, whereas one question from him may lead to the collapse of the whole case. I cannot think of any Court in which this will be allowed. My regret is all the greater, because such a commitment proceeding serves no purpose. According to me commitment proceedings serves two purposes:

They apprise the accused with regard to the case to a certain extent. According to many rulings of our High Courts, the real purpose of the commitment proceedings is that in such cases where there is no chance of a conviction in the Sessions Court the accused may be discharged and not committed.

Dr. Katju: Are they discharged?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: They are discharged. According to the hon. Home Minister only one per cent. of the cases is discharged. I do not know where he got this figure from.

An Hon. Member: From the U.P.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I know of several cases in which discharges have been ordered. If the proposition is that this commitment in the Criminal Procedure Code is for the purposes of seeing that only cases with reasonable chances of conviction are sent up, all other cases should be discharged.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: But are discharges made frequently?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: They are made and if they are not made, why are they not made? The rulings are that the benefit of doubt should be given to the prosecution and in every case there should be a commitment when conviction is possible.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: To the accused?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: When I said, for the benefit of the prosecution, I meant it.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: You mean in committal cases?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: According to our High Court rulings only such cases where there is a possibility of conviction should be committed.

Dr. Katju: My hon. friend's plea is that before committal to sessions there should be a preliminary trial before a Magistrate, in which a very serious case may be acquitted by him because he thinks the prosecution evidence is untrustworthy. So far as the difference between *prima facie* evidence and untrustworthy evidence is concerned, my hon. friend is pleading for untrustworthy evidence....

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: The Home Minister rises in his seat and puts certain things in my mouth which I have never said and will never say. (*Interruptions*).

Dr. Katju: He wants the rulings to be changed. The rulings say that the Magistrate should only see the *prima facie* evidence and not go into the merits of the evidence. He says that he wants these rulings should be changed.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: My hon. friend says there is one per cent conviction....

Dr. Katju: Of course; let us make it two, if you want....

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: It is entirely wrong. We know in the Sessions there are according to hon. Minister 83 per cent acquittals. Many cases in which there could be no convictions go before Sessions Judges since you have made these rulings possible. That is a fact. I want that these rulings should be changed and only in those cases in which there is a reasonable chance of conviction commitment must be made. First of all, you make this rule and then you say.... (*Interruptions*). The Home Minister is in charge of the entire thing. What are the words you are putting here.... (*Interruption*).

Dr. Katju: He wants first there should be a trial by a Magistrate of the first class in every murder case and a second trial by the Sessions Judge.... (*Interruptions*).

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I do not want any commitment proceedings as the hon. Home Minister was also of the view. But he has yielded to the blessed Select Committee. In this House we cannot have our amendments passed. I know this difficulty. I know that I can convert the whole House to my own view but at the same time I know that I cannot succeed against the Home Minister in getting the commitment procedure eliminated. It is he who brought the original Bill saying that there should be no commitment and I am supporting it. Now, you yourself do not support me. It is the Members of the Select Committee who forced his hands. If he is left to himself, he will agree....

Dr. Katju: I am always frightened at you.....

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: On the contrary I always love and respect the hon. Home Minister. (*Interruptions*).

An. Hon. Member: Love and respect are dangerous....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Both attitude seems to be possible.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am very glad you are reconciling. I will only get half an hour if I am not interrupted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The whole thing must close at 4 o'clock.

Pandit Thakurdas Das Bhargava: At 4-30.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: At 4 o'clock.

Dr. Katju: I should reply.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: It is my misfortune that whenever I rise to speak the question of time comes before me and I am not even allowed to take the time of half an hour which you were pleased to allot.....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Member can take half an hour.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am not going to take more time than the other hon. Members....

An. Hon. Member: There are many other Members who are anxious to speak on this.

Dr. Katju: My hon. friend, when he was in the Chair, used to give only 15 minutes.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I did not reduce the time. When I started I gave the ruling that the Deputy-Speaker has stated that half an hour is a reasonable time; that is what I said. Just as he has done, before he puts things in my mouth which I have never said.

My first point is and I regret it as a great tragedy—that the commitment procedure is still there because according to me this commitment procedure is responsible for a good many acquittals in Sessions cases.

I was coming to the point that if the commitment procedure is there, how can we improve it? The Select Committee have done a great wrong to the accused in this country. In the first place when Mr. Trivedi was speaking and making out a point that it is not evidence under section 164, I gave him to understand that from a

certain point of view, from the point of view that the accused is better informed of what the case against him is, this is useful to a certain stage. But the provision under 164 that if a witness is examined, he will not be cross-examined in a Commitment Court, is very wrong; it is a wrong procedure in so far as it dis-entitles every accused to earn a discharge. It is not alone. I do not know from what point of view the Select Committee has made other changes. If there was not sufficient material on the record, why should the accused be sent up; he should not be sent up. Now the words are: 'if the charges are groundless...' Then alone he can be discharged. It is entirely wrong. They have tightened the case against him in many respects. This is not alone. Section 540 has, to some extent by implication, been taken away because the words are after certain things are done the accused must be examined. What is his examination? The very essence of his examination should be that he should be asked questions to explain incrimination matters so that he may get a discharge. I do not agree what Mr. Anthony in his entire statement of the law that the accused should in all cases be not allowed to explain things that have appeared against him. I understand that a person can by making a statement earn a discharge; that was the original 209 also. The words are that the accused could be examined to explain away the circumstances appearing in evidence against him. These words have been taken away under clause 31. It means that now the accused is at the mercy of the Magistrate and he can be cross-examined. It is entirely wrong; it is putting the cart before the horse. My humble submission is this. The sub-inspector would have in the hollow of his hand the life of the accused. He will have his own way; it is in his hand to examine one witness who was present at the actual commission of the offence in the Commitment Court and one witness under sec. 164 in some other Court. The other witness examined elsewhere under sec. 164 cannot be

[Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava]

examined by the Commitment Court. Supposing he makes a statement which beliefs the entire prosecution case he could not take advantage there. Therefore, my submission is that the whole scheme of this Act is that the accused will never be discharged. The words 'must be groundless' have been put in this section 207A and section 253 had been deleted so that there can be no discharge in any warrant case based on police report. It is impossible now. I, therefore, submit that the House should see the amendments which I have tabled and it would be well advised to accept at least some of them and to make this clause 207A at least tolerable and acceptable.

I submitted last time also another point. The hon. Home Minister had said in his reply that he will make an arrangement so that copies are at least given to these persons some days in advance. Finally the amendment was not accepted when I put in an amendment in regard to 173. Now also, I have got an amendment in 207 that copies must be given at least ten days in advance. Am I making too great a claim? The hon. Home Minister has very kindly agreed to give copies to the accused and I am glad he has made this provision though I know in many cases this provision will not only be unnecessary but distinctly bad. Only fifteen per cent. are literate in India and one can assume there are fifteen per cent. literates in jails. Will you give them iron safes for keeping the copies? What will be the use? In every case the accused is not defended by a counsel. Will you provide a counsel in every case—warrant or other cases. You give a copy to those who want a copy, who will require a copy and who will make use of a copy. What is the use of giving a copy to all illiterate accused who are undefended? What will they do with them? It is only in certain cases that copies will be required. The hon. Home Minister has been very pleased to grant copies free of cost to all accused and I

welcome this and congratulate him upon this.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: There are some old offenders who do not want a lawyer to defend them. They defend themselves.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am referring to giving of copies. What is the use of giving them these copies unless you give in advance? If you give the copies before ten days, the counsel for the defence will study them, then find out certain points for cross-examination. You give it there and then. I do not know if it makes for speed or delay. I submitted this and the Home Minister said that he will accept it. But, he has forgotten because he has too many things in his mind. He says that he cannot accept anything.

Shri Gadgil (Poona Central): Restrict it to seven days.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I submitted that according to article 22 of the Constitution, the accused is entitled to know as soon as possible the grounds of his detention or arrest and the accused has also the fundamental right to be defended by counsel. I raised this point even at the time when the Constitution was being framed. I said, you give the full right to cross-examine. Dr. Ambedkar said that this is an elementary thing and that defending includes cross-examination. I submit that this truncated right of cross-examination is not full right to cross-examination. We are really going against the Constitution in giving a truncated right of cross-examination.

Shri Gadgil: How many times he will have the right of cross-examination?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: At least a reasonable opportunity must be given. If one witness says one thing and I know that the other witness is not going to corroborate him,

I should be able to cross-examine the other man. If there is not that right, Shri Gadgil knows that it is not full cross-examination. For how many years has section 256 been on the statute-book? Has any person raised any objection so far? You say, speed. On the very day section 256 is availed of, you can allow defence witnesses to come. There is no question of adjournment at all. You want to take away section 253 and see that no person shall be discharged. Either send a man to jail or acquit him; there is no third choice.

Shri Gadgil: No, no.

Some Hon. Members: No, no.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I shall stand corrected if any hon. Member can point out any provision in this regard that now in warrant cases on police report there can be a discharge. There can be no discharge in a warrant case. In the commitment stage also, only if the case is absolutely groundless, there can be discharge.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Shri Gadgil does not know criminal law.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: No, no. I have great respect for him.

Shri Gadgil: At least I know criminals very well.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I was submitting that this provision for cross-examination of witnesses is even now very unsatisfactory. I want that all witnesses to the actual commission of the offence, whom the prosecution wants to be produced at the trial, ought to be produced here: not a man less. This section 164 and other things must go away. I have no time; otherwise, I would have given examples to show how this provision is liable to be misused. Suppose there is only one man who has seen the occurrence, what happens? He will be examined under section 164. What will be there for the commitment court and the

accused. He will be committed unheard. Section 164 statement is the only evidence against him. Still he will go to the Sessions Court. I have no time to deal at length with all these points, points which are obvious to me, but which are not obvious unfortunately to Shri Datar. So far as cross-examination was concerned he said on a previous occasion, we have given the right to the Court to put questions and cross-examination is included in that right. He forgot that under section 165 of the Evidence Act, the Court has the absolute right to put any questions, relevant and irrelevant. You kindly look into the matter and make a provision which will be worthy of this country, by which a person can be able to get a discharge in the committing Court.

I have got many other amendments. As there is no time, I shall leave them to the discretion of the House and I will not waste the time of the House. But, in regard to the procedure in warrant cases, I must submit a few points. I am saving my time by not speaking on these amendments to be able to speak on the warrant case procedure. My difficulty is this. In the days of the British, all the lawyers and the entire country was given to understand that a charge can only be framed on the basis of the prosecution evidence which was before the Court. As you know, under section 254, if there is a *prima facie* case, a charge was framed. If there is no evidence on the side of the prosecution or if the Court disbelieved it, a discharge could be earned under section 253. Now, according to the present provision, it is not the prosecution evidence which is the basis of a charge; but the accusation made by the police in the challan papers is the basis of the charge. This is entirely wrong in principle. All the controversies have arisen from this. My humble submission is this. Unless and until....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: What the hon. Member suggests reduces itself to a summons case procedure. Practically

[Mr. Deputy-Speaker]

in summons cases, the accused appears, the case against him is given to him, he is asked to state his and the case starts. Opportunity is given to him to cross-examine the prosecution witnesses. Then, he can bring his defence evidence and so on. All the evidence recorded in the police diary is given to him. He is asked to say whether he is guilty or not guilty and then you proceed to charge.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I quite agree with you. One simple question, guilty or not is asked. Even in the Sessions Court, this question is asked. There is no hearing. He may be cross-examined by the Court. The Court will be at liberty to put any question, and he may be forced to say anything not only to explain the circumstances against him. But independently, the Court has the right to cross-examine. I know that this provision will not be abused. But, if the Court so chose, it is liable to be abused. In warrant cases, as soon as the accused goes there, the Court will see whether what is contained in the police papers and that material is sufficient to charge him and the Court will at once charge him without hearing a single witness. After that is done, the prosecution evidence will be recorded and then the defence evidence will be recorded. There is an end of the matter.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That means, asking the accused to disclose his case, if he does not disclose, put questions to him and then on his own admission convicting him. At any rate no question is put in a summons case. It is open to ask or not. But, such an examination may mean you bring out matters and put question which the accused knows he need not answer. He unwittingly says something and you use it against him in the prosecution.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: Even things which cannot be proved by the prosecution could be brought out in that examination.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am submitting that the procedure was like what you have pointed out. You ask, what is your defence. After the accused says that this is the defence, the prosecution witnesses come and prove that the defence is wrong. The prosecution witnesses will make statements with a view to annihilate the defence version. That is the crux of the arguments of Shri Frank Anthony who was very angry. He was right when he said that it is entirely wrong to ask the accused what his defence is and then bringing the prosecution witnesses and then the defence evidence. Therefore, we have been rightly insisting that on the ground of speed....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Member says that every opportunity should be provided as in a summons case except that the accused can be examined.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: My hon. friend the Home Minister is not here. He said in this House in these very words: I do not know what is the difference between a summons case and a warrant case. This is an old pattern of 60 or 70 years. Why then, this double or treble cross-examination, he said.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: He said, I would love to be tried under such a procedure.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Yes. He said if he were to be tried, he would like to be tried as in a summons case. The defence lawyers in the House and the public outside including Judges think otherwise. That is the opinion of all except the Home Minister. I think this is a wrong way of putting things. I think the Home Minister must look at these things from the point of view of the accused. He has neither been an accused nor a practising lawyer in a Sessions Court. That is my misfortune.

There are many other provisions which I would like to refer to. I

leave those sections to their fate. But, I want to submit for your consideration one very important point. Today, if there is a private complaint, the procedure is entirely different. In a private complaint case, there is double cross-examination under the Code. There is section 253 and the accused can earn his discharge. There will be a charge only on the basis of the prosecution evidence. The entire set of these sections is there for a private complaint case. Similarly, in a commitment case, so far as a private complaint is concerned, all the previous provisions are there.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Therefore, the hon. Member suggests if a person wants to get the accused convicted on a private complaint, he must add a cognisable offence and induce the police to charge-sheet on that offence also.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Ordinarily, the private complaint comes in sessions cases, only when the complainant has failed to convince the police of the truth of his case; then only, he comes in with a case of this nature. Then, he is given so many rights, first of all, those rights, and then these rights. Now, what do we find? In article 14 of the Constitution, we find there is equality of protection. My hon. friend Pandit K. C. Sharma has elaborated that point already. So, I will not elaborate that. But I would submit that there must be some uniformity in law. What was the difficulty in the previous law? The previous law was uniform. Why do you want to change it now? In whose interest do you want to change it? What is the difficulty that you have felt, that you want to change it? There is no reply to that. I wait for a reply still. There is no reply that the difficulty was this or that except perhaps that you want that the police should succeed in every case. This is something which is entirely wrong. We know the percentage of cases, where there is conviction at present; there are about fifty per cent. convictions in warrant cases. Perhaps, the hon. Home Minister wants that

the percentage of convictions should reach the figure of eighty per cent., which it was not so beforehand. Why I am speaking with so much feeling is because I do feel that if this Criminal Procedure Code comes into practice, many innocent persons will be sent to jail in warrant cases, that many more will be sent to jail than now....

Some Hon. Members: No, no.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: because the cross-examination right will not be there. I can accept the 'no', since I cannot prove my case now; since he cannot also prove his case, he can certainly say, no. But there is no doubt about it, because the right to cross-examine is not there; the entire evidence from the witnesses will not be brought out, and therefore there will be difficulty to the accused. I wish that some of us were tried in warrant cases, and then we knew that when a witness.....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I would ask the hon. Minister one thing in this connection. If speed is one of the main considerations, instead of saying that a charge may be framed, and thereafter an opportunity will be given to cross-examine witnesses, have the present procedure of allowing cross-examination at the earlier stage, and of examining such other witnesses as may be necessary, only with the permission of the Court, after the charge is framed. I am only suggesting this as an alternative. Instead of framing the charge straightaway and asking the accused what he has to say, so that the prosecution may build up its case, and by his own mouth, the accused will be convicted, instead of allowing that, if speed is one of the main considerations, let the cross-examination be done at the earlier stage, and let the Court come to a conclusion as to whether the accused ought to be discharged or not; if the Magistrate comes to the conclusion that a charge has to be framed, then since the accused had an opportunity to cross-examine at length at the earlier stage, the Magistrate may, if

[Mr. Deputy-Speaker]

he thinks necessary to amplify or clarify a particular issue, allow in his discretion one or two persons to be brought in once again and be cross-examined.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am very glad that you have taken this view, because according to the Constitution....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: What I suggested now is this. In a warrant case, it merely reduces itself to the existing procedure. But what is being sought to be done is this. In the interests of speedy administration of justice, you say, decide on the police report, and whatever other statements are there; at the earlier stage, no witnesses need be examined. On the basis of the police record and the police statements alone, and with such examination of the case, as the Magistrate might think necessary, he can discharge the accused, or he can frame a charge. It is only after the charge is framed that the witnesses for the prosecution will be examined, and the accused shall have the right of cross-examination, and then he will lead his own defence. This is the procedure that is sought to be introduced now. The objection that is taken to it is this. Before the prosecution comes out with its own evidence, except perhaps with what is recorded in the police diary, and some other statements that might have been recorded under section 164, the accused is asked to explain his case, and the Court can elicit certain answers also from the accused; it may not be by way of cross-examination, but the Court can put him questions and elicit some answers; and the accused will be obliged to answer them, and unwittingly he may say something on account of which the prosecution might develop its case suitably. Cannot this procedure be reversed or reverted? Instead of allowing a cross-examination after charge, let the cross-examination be before charge, and let there be no cross-examination after charge, except in cases where the Magistrate thinks that such cross-examination is

necessary.

Dr. Katju: Will that be accepted?

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I think that is much better than this.

Dr. Katju: If that is acceptable to the House, I have no objection....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That is preferable to this.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am only saying that I am very glad..

Dr. Katju: You need not be glad; let me just complete what I have to say. Either I am on my legs, or my hon. friend is on his legs.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Member Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava will kindly resume his seat.

Dr. Katju: That was the original proposal in the Bill. But the Select Committee went into it, and 49 Members were there, very eminent members of the profession, and they said that there should be an unrestricted right of cross-examination after charge. Secondly, they said—I am only repeating what they said—that the whole prosecution case invariably depends upon the investigation, and upon the statements made before the police, which I have always been calling throughout here as diary statements. The accused sees the diary statements, and those diary statements contain the police case against him; let the Magistrate see whether on those diary statements, there is a *prima facie* case against the accused or not. So far as the question of examination of the accused is concerned, the Select Committee was of the opinion that it would not be any lengthy examination. It would be of the form: 'Are you guilty, or are you not guilty? Have you committed this offence, or have you not committed this offence?' Of course, for the sake of argument, we may contemplate here theoretically that the Magistrate will enter into all details and put him all sorts of questions. But I tell you, no Magistrate would do it. The Select Committee was very anxious that an opportunity should be given to the Magistrate to

say that on those diary statements and other statements which may be there, there is no case whatsoever against the accused, so that the accused may be saved the misery of a long trial; otherwise, the case should begin. Please remember that under the current procedure, or the present procedure, the accused sees the diary statements only when the witness goes into the witness-box. And the Select Committee thought that it was a great boon or a great advantage conferred upon the accused that he had all those papers supplied to him seven or eight or even ten days before the trial, and therefore, it was no use further giving him the right to cross-examine. Otherwise, I am personally very happy....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: It is no doubt an advantage to the accused that he has all those papers supplied to him.

Dr. Katju: May I submit one more thing? In all these discussions, we should never forget the poor Hamlets, namely the witnesses; they should be as little inconvenienced as possible. After all, they come here to assist the administration of justice, and they should not be asked to come once, twice, thrice and four times.

Shri Dabhi: If Government accepts my amendment No. 9, then everything will be all right.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: It is not that we are thirsting for want of words or expressions. We can put it in any language, if the substance is agreed.

There is one other point. Does the hon. Home Minister feel, after so much of experience of the police handling these cases, that they will frame their police diary and their records in such a manner that even by merely looking into them, it is likely that....

Dr. Katju: As I said, I am expressing my own opinion in the light of my experience. It is quite possible that your experience may be quite different. But I have no doubt whatsoever that after looking into the police diary statements, the accused will get

the clearest notion as to what the police case against him is.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: But he is mum. He cannot cross-examine.

Dr. Katju: I am not saying anything about his keeping mum. What I am saying is that after reading the police diary statements, he gets to know what the police case against him is....

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That is all right.

Dr. Katju:...because it is on the basis of the diary statement that the police sends a charge-sheet, and in that charge-sheet, they set out what their case against him is. That is all.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The only point is this. Why should a charge be framed merely on the basis of the police diary?

Dr. Katju: No, no. The charge-sheet does not mention the names of the witnesses or what one witness said or the other witness said. It is the diary statement which gives all these.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: On a point of information. You are putting a question on charge, and the learned Home Minister is answering the question of charge-sheet. That means the police report?

Dr. Katju: I am using the word 'charge-sheet' not in the sense of the charge framed by the Magistrate; but I am referring to the charge-sheet, to the report made by the police to the Magistrate, when they are submitting their case.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: There cannot be two opinions now on the point that the accused should be enabled to get copies of the diaries which form the basis of all attack against him. Therefore, to that extent, the accused has an advantage today.

Dr. Katju: May I say one thing more? Can you conceive of a case where the prosecution evidence rendered at the trial is a great departure from the diary statements? Can that case possibly succeed?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Many cases have succeeded.

Dr. Katju: I do not want to interfere with my hon. friend Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava....

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Very kind of you.

Dr. Katju:...because there are many other hon. Members to speak.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I do not know what is the experience of the hon. the Home Minister. Leave alone the other clauses where there is a different procedure. The benefit of doubt ought to be given in favour of the prosecution so far as committal cases are concerned. I mean cases where every care is taken to throw it out by cross-examination and not allow a charge-sheet to be framed. Nobody waits until a charge is framed.

Dr. Katju: I do not know. Your experience and my experience may differ. I believe there are very few cases which are thrown out before the charge is framed.

Shri Raghavachari (Penukonda): No, no.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: There are a very large number of cases.

Dr. Katju: Everybody says 'No'.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Let me put one more question. Does the offer stand that instead of opportunity being given after the charge, the opportunity is given in the first instance? If the House is agreeable, is the hon. Minister willing to accept it?

Dr. Katju: That is what was in the original Bill.

Shri Tek Chand: Clauses 36 and 37 of the original Bill.

Dr. Katju: My own anxiety all through has been that there should

be one full cross-examination. The second cross-examination may be subject to the discretion of the Magistrate so that the witnesses may not come. The Select Committee said that that one full opportunity should be given after charge.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: If the House now feels.....

Dr. Katju: . . . that it should be before, I have no objection.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I am very glad that you have been pleased to ask the hon. Minister to kindly consider the wishes of the House in this matter and he is agreeable to it.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That is the original proposal.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: I have submitted two or three points and I have a few more. The first is this I beg to ask very humbly the hon. Minister, when he says that these statements under section 162 will not be used for any purpose whatever except that of cross-examination, is he not using all these papers for the purpose of framing a charge?

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Now, he is agreeable. Why unnecessarily stress that?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: The point is this. All these statements before the police should not be utilised for the purpose of prejudicing the Court against the accused.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Member knows that under the Code, copies of the diary ought to be sent to the Magistrate. They are always with him from the earlier stage of the proceedings. Does the hon. Member suggest that the Magistrate does not know about them?

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: They are only sent to the Police.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: No, no.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: According to a particular section—172—the Court can call for it from the police officer.

Shri U. M. Trivedi: Ordinarily it goes to the Magistrate.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Never. Only under section 172 the Court can call for it.

Shr. S. V. Ramaswamy: Only statements recorded in the inquest are sent to the Magistrate; other statements are not sent.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Inquest under section 174 is not police diary as such.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: Section 172(2) of the Code of Criminal Procedure says:

“Any Criminal Court may send for the police-diaries of a case under inquiry or trial in such Court, and may use such diaries, not as evidence in the case, but to aid it in such inquiry or trial”.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: He is getting that. What is the objection? If it is not automatically sent, he can send for and look into it.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: But the Court cannot utilise it for any purpose. Police diary is quite different thing from statement under 162. The latter could not be used for corroboration of the prosecution witness.

Now, the hon. the Home Minister has made this law. It will first of all be used by the court and the Court will be prejudiced while the charge is framed on the basis of those statements. I am indebted to my friend, Mr. N. S. Jain, for this; he is perfectly right when he raised this objection.

I was submitting another point. You have been pleased to ask the Home Minister about it. There is an article in the Constitution, article 20 (3), which says that no accused shall

be convicted out of his own mouth. Now, under these sections, the accused can be examined and cross-examined. He can be examined at pleasure. The simple question will never be put— are you guilty or not? This is the way of putting the question, but the hon. the Home Minister's question will be: what reply do you make to the allegations in the police statement? My humble submission is it offends against article 20(3) of the Constitution.

Now, Sir, I was very sorry I made a mistake in saying that the warrant procedure had been brought to the level of summons procedure. In a summons procedure, the only question asked of the accused when he comes into the dock is, first of all, show cause why you should not be convicted. He need not make a statement of facts. Here in the warrant case he will be asked to make a statement of facts. It is topsy-turvy.

My humble submission is that all these defects which I have pointed out—some of them by my friends also—, unless these hurdles are crossed, we are not justified in thrusting this Bill down the throats of the country, when the country has not been able to express its opinion on all these provisions. What did the Select Committee do? They refused to consider other amendments in respect of which no opinion was taken. The country never agreed to the truncated commitment procedure. The country said—either commitment procedure or no commitment procedure. The country never said that such a procedure in which a person cannot be discharged should be adopted. In the original Bill, the hon. the Home Minister gave two occasions for cross-examination. A person could say, to start with, ‘All right. I do not cross-examine. I reserve it after the charge’ and afterwards he could say: ‘All right. I will cross-examine now’. Under the provision made by the Select Committee, he will be allowed only one cross-examination. Now, if the hon. Minister is allowed to have his own way, I know that a judicial

[Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava]

mind would never agree that the accused should not be given such a right. He should have the right as proposed in the original Bill, though I am not satisfied with those provisions. The double right of cross-examination must be there. But the difficulty is..

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I am afraid I must give opportunities to some other hon. Members also.

Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava: Let me finish my last prayers to the hon. Minister. The Home Minister is too good. He came with the original Bill under which there was no commitment. Then the Select Committee asked him to take away the right of cross-examination. We requested him to kindly agree to cross-examination. He has agreed. Similarly I would request him to allow the double right. The double right was there—at least one and a half times in the amending Bill. The Select Committee asked him to give only one right. You have been pleased to express our wishes. I would only request him to kindly agree to the wishes of the House and see that in warrant cases, there is some semblance of justice. Otherwise, if cross-examination is not allowed, it is a travesty of justice.

Pandit Munishwar Datt Upadhyay: It should be postponed.

Shri N. S. Jain: I want only one minute. I would suggest something. I only wish to say that as far as warrant procedure is concerned, it is something which has got to do with the Constitution itself. I might be wrong in this view, but with due respect to the Home Minister, I am submitting that it should be re-examined in the light in which my friend, Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava, has explained it—that these section 161 statements are hereby to be used for the framing of the charge which, already we have said under section 162, shall not be so used. So I think it will not be difficult to postpone the consideration of this clause till

tomorrow and then just examine this point.

Shri R. D. Misra: On a point of correction. I referred to the statements of Chief Justice Mahajan, Mr. Justice S. R. Das and the hon. the Home Minister's circular. Those are all recorded in group C and not in group D supplied to us.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: I think all sections of the House are cognizant that there is a good deal of delay in criminal trials in India and it is assuming serious and phenomenal proportions and really our administration of criminal justice is being brought into disrepute, and we should make a conscious effort to eliminate delay in criminal trials. It is quite right that one of the causes was, to a large extent, committal proceedings, although that was not the main malady. The main malady has been the inefficiency of the investigating machine and the preoccupation of the magistracy in diverse duties. The latter cannot concentrate on doing their Judicial work. Dr. Katju himself has frankly admitted in one of his statements:

"Delay in criminal trials is very often due to the procrastination in police investigations".

That has been the view taken by very eminent and competent men.

The Government of Bihar has said:

"If police force is not efficient it is not the fault of the Court or the Criminal Procedure Code. It will take a long time before detection can be possible by the police. Their whole training has been different."

Now, Sir, what I am pointing out is this. I can understand Dr. Katju's original Bill. But, with great respect to the Members of the Joint Committee I have got to express my thorough disagreement with the views of the Committee and the recommendations they have made regarding new clauses 29 and 35. Look at clause 29. Clause 29 provides duality of committal proceed-

ings for cases instituted on a private complaint and those instituted on a police report. Why this discrimination? Apart from constitutional point—I have not considered that point. I cannot say off-hand whether it would be repugnant to the fundamental rights guaranteed under the Constitution. If that is so, then it is a serious matter—it is illogical, it is inconsistent and no reasons or justification has been given. Dr. Katju's original proposal for abolition of committal proceedings was much better, according to me. Of course, I strongly opposed this procedure of simply sending a man up on police diaries, police statements and certain other things. Even with some modification that was much better than the dual procedure contemplated here.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Even in the original Bill there is the difference between these two types of cases.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: There was a difference in the original Bill.

Dr. Katju: There was difference.

Pandit K. C. Sharma: Then, that too was bad.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: What I maintain is, abolition of committal proceedings was much better than the peculiar differentiation of committal proceedings and the present truncated form it is taking now. Now, look at clause 35. Clause 35 is also contemplating two different procedures. I would ask the House to seriously consider Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava's amendments numbers 125 and 126. If you look at his amendment number 125, you will find he has recommended deletion of lines 11 to 13 on page 9. These lines are:

"Provided that no statement shall be recorded under this sub-section of any person whose statement has already been recorded under section 164."

I agree with Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava that this proviso should be deleted. As a matter of fact it is not fair if you keep this.

523 LSD

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That means the statement of whosoever has been recorded, he shall not be examined.

Shri Datar: If his statement had been recorded under section 164.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: That is actually my point.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Home Minister said yesterday that in case of eye-witnesses the accused will be given a right to cross-examine. But, he has evidently overlooked this proviso to sub-clause (4) which says that the statement of whosoever has been recorded under section 164, he shall not be examined again.

Dr. Katju: I remember this very well. What I said yesterday was that, according to this provision, the man who has already been examined under section 164, he shall never be produced and witnesses whose statements have not been recorded, they shall be produced before a Magistrate. The Joint Committee Report says that these men who are so produced shall be examined-in-chief, but their cross-examination will not be permitted though the Magistrate may put any questions he likes. The amendment is that these witnesses who are in flesh and blood before the Magistrate, should be allowed to be cross-examined. The amendment does not say anything about the witnesses who are not produced at all for the reason that their statements had been taken already under section 164. I am only limiting my saying to the cross-examination of those witnesses who are actually physically produced before the Magistrate.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That is clear. The hon. Minister is not committing himself to any particular course other than allow cross-examination of those witnesses whom the police choose to produce as connected with the crime or as being eye-witnesses. Is it not open to the police to withhold all of them and take only statements under section 164?

Dr. Katju: Of course, it is.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Therefore, that right of cross-examination becomes useless, negatory and infructuous.

Dr. Katju: I am not going into the merits of it. I am only trying to explain the provision as it stands. If the House is of opinion that every single eye-witness, whether he has been examined under section 164 or not, should be brought before the Magistrate, it can be accepted. That is a matter of opinion. But, the Bill makes that distinction whether for good reason or bad reason.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: What I am pointing out is this. If you kindly look at sub-clause (4), it says:

"The Magistrate shall then proceed to record the statements of the persons, if any, who may be produced by the prosecution as witnesses to the actual commission of the offence alleged....."

Therefore, the object was.....

Dr. Katju: You must also read the proviso which says: "Provided that a man whose statement has been recorded under section 164, need not be produced."

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: Quite right.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Member takes exception to that proviso.

Dr. Katju: I quite appreciate it.

Mr. N. C. Chatterjee: The reason behind it is that the most material witnesses should be produced at the earlier stage. Now, sub-clause (5) says:

"The accused shall not be at liberty to put questions to any such witness....."

We object to this strongly. In our criticism we said that it would be a 'dummy farce'. It will be like a pantomime if this thing happens.

Shri S. V. Ramaswamy: You see the amendment to that.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: I know that. You are not a Deputy Minister as yet

Now, sub-clause (1) says:

"When, upon such statements being recorded, such documents being considered, such examination (if any) being made and the prosecution and the accused being given an opportunity of being heard, the Magistrate is of opinion that the accused should be committed for trial....."

Therefore, Sir, it contemplates the presence of the accused person, the presence of his lawyer, examination to be recorded in his presence and an opportunity being given to him of a hearing. We were saying that this hearing would be a farce and therefore, it is only right that this sub-clause 5 is deleted.

Now, the Government is deleting sub-clause 5 and, therefore, the accused should be now at liberty to put questions so that on cross-examining at this stage, if necessary—I am not making his representation after cross-examination—he must say: "Discharge me". What I am pointing out and asking Dr. Katju earnestly to consider is this. If the prosecution wants to make this safeguard being given for the protection of defence of the accused: if this safeguard is sought to be made illusory or useless, they can do so by recording statements of material or eye-witnesses under section 164. Then it is not only that this section would be illusory, but the other thing will happen, that they cannot cross-examine him and make any effective statements.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Member wants that the Home Minister should go one step further.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: That is what I am submitting.

Dr. Katju: I understand it.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: There is no labouring the point. He has already conceded that mere statement alone was not enough, but, in accordance

with the wishes of the large section here, the accused must be given a right to cross-examine those witnesses who are eye-witnesses to scene. The only further question is whether it is open to the police to withhold them, or are they bound to bring them. That controversy stands. Now, let us hear the hon. Minister.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: One point more, Sir. I have made a suggestion in amendment number 327 which says:

"In page 12,—after line 19, add 'Provided that the Magistrate may permit the cross-examination of any witness to be deferred until any other witness or witnesses have been examined, or recall any witness for further cross-examination'"

Sir, it is a very valuable right. Sometimes it is absolutely impossible for any cross-examining counsel to cross-examine a man on all points. After a stage, it may seem that it is material to cross-examine him and in that case it will be very vital.

4 P.M.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Even in civil cases, if the Court likes, it may permit cross-examination later on. Is it not so? Even in a Civil Court and a Criminal Court, when a witness has been cross-examined, can he not be recalled for the purpose of putting some more questions to him now?

Shri Kasliwal (Kotah-Jhalawar): Under clause 35, it is not so.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: One other submission for the hon. Home Minister's consideration is this. It is impossible to visualise it. You cross-examine Z and when Z comes, the investigation officer is with him at this stage. I cannot possibly visualise the object of that man being put in the box. A proviso of this kind was in the Bill and then it was dropped. The recent ruling of the Supreme Court—and you can look through the proceedings of the Parliament in order to find out if there was a provision made in the Bill and then that

was dropped. That means that Parliament in its legislative judgment has expressed its dissent and therefore negated it. It may be argued that that power is gone now that the Legislature or Parliament has negated that proviso.

Shri Raghavachari rose—

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I wanted to call the hon. Home Minister at four o'clock. Hon. Members must themselves adjust and I find it difficult to pull up any hon. Member when he is on his legs—I said not more than half an hour, but hon. Members have taken more. I find it very difficult if hon. Members go on standing up.

Shri Raghavachari: I have only one point to make.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: If it is only one point, I will request the hon. Home Minister to resume his seat.

Shri Raghavachari: Now that you have clarified the whole thing and the hon. Home Minister has agreed that he will consider the right of cross-examination or further cross-examination of a witness in a warrant case, subject to the discretion of the Court permitting it, I wish to say that it is some concession which is very much to be valued.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Cross-examination before charge and with the discretion of the Court after charge, such of the witnesses as it may allow.

Shri Raghavachari: As is even now provided in the case of *de novo* enquiry the advantage for the accused to call witnesses, with the court's permission. The other point is this. The hon. Home Minister will kindly consider that under the proviso witnesses examined under section 164 should not be produced. Now he is inclined to omit the proviso.

If we get these two things, it will be a great advantage to the accused.

Dr. Katju: I may be repeating myself, but in justice to the Select Committee, I should like to make the post-

[Dr. Katju]

tion clear and I shall take the two portions separately—(1) about the commitment proceedings and (2) about the warrant cases.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The amendment of section 251 was not thought of in the original Bill and only section 252 was sought to be amended in the original Bill. Amendment to section 251 has been introduced by the Select Committee.

Dr. Katju: Because they lay down a distinct procedure. Will you kindly allow me in my own way to explain this, because there has been some tendency of mixing up the two things.

My hon. friend Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava, pointed out that I have always stood for the abolition of commitment proceedings. That was my own view then and is even now today, and to do justice to the Select Committee, that was also their opinion. If you do not abolish the commitment proceedings, quite frankly, a great deal of the very reason for the old Bill disappears, because opinion is unanimous throughout India that commitment proceedings lead to great dilatoriness. As Shri Chatterjee said, they are coming up for ridicule and comment. The original Bill said that there should be no commitment proceedings but there was also a section in the original Bill that before the case went to the sessions, the statement of the prosecution witnesses—material eye-witnesses—should have been recorded on oath, so that it may be available for contradiction. I am not saying that it should be available for being used against the accused, but for the contradiction of the witnesses. We must be quite alive to the fact that in a criminal case, sometimes great pressure is brought upon the witnesses months after the trial and something happens. The original scheme was that all the material witnesses should be examined on oath either under the original section 164 or under the new proceedings, and when the case went up before the Magistrate, he would just be keeping it for one day and no

more, for two specific purposes—firstly, for the purpose of finding out as to whether the accused had been supplied with all the necessary papers and copies and statements, and secondly, for the purpose of finding out where the case should go to, that is, whether it should be referred to the Sessions Court for trial or whether it should be tried by himself or should be sent to another Magistrate. He was not to prepare the charge at all; he was to prepare a draft charge, so that the Sessions Judge may have something before him before framing the charge.

When the Bill was before the House, before it went to the Select Committee, very strong criticisms were expressed of the section 164 procedure, and quite a lot of things were said against section 164. The Select Committee, therefore, said that recording of statements under section 164 was not desirable. The statements should be recorded in the presence of the accused, and instead of getting five material witnesses recorded by five different Magistrates to the great administrative inconvenience of the police and the investigating authority, it would be much better to have all these five statements recorded practically under section 164, but in the physical presence of the accused, in the physical presence of his lawyer, in the physical presence of the prosecution lawyer, so that the criticism which has been made that in the absence of the accused, the witness was openly coached and tutored by the police and his statement was wrongly recorded, would disappear. Having been recorded, they said "Let us go back to the original proposal, not cross-examination" The Magistrate then drafts the charge and there is an end of the matter, and I thought that that was practically the Bill. But the second thing which weighed with the Select Committee strongly was this. These papers, section 164 statements, diary statements, may not disclose the scintilla of evidence against a particular accused and it would be unfair to send that particular accus-

ed, whether it is one percent or five per cent, to a long sessions trial. Therefore, the Magistrate should be given the opportunity of finding out as to whether there is even a *prima facie* case disclosed in section 164 statements and the diary statements. If there is disclosure, then the man goes to the Sessions Court and he is sent up. A draft charge is prepared or framed against him. But if there is no scintilla of evidence, he will be discharged and saved of the botheration of a long sessions trial. They carried it out, and the moment they carried it out, you have the present formula, namely, if you are going to discharge a man, there is no question of a draft charge. You prepare a charge for the sessions trial. I think this is the first thing that is done: the charge is read out to the accused and the Sessions Judge always examines it, adds to it, alters it, and does whatever he may like. The procedure that has now come forward from the Select Committee was: no cross-examination. My hon. friend says this is travesty of a trial. Very well, I have no objection whatsoever because the information that I have—and my own experience is—practice may differ from counsel to counsel, from State to State, from Court to Court. It all depends. But in the Uttar Pradesh and I think in some other States, cross-examination before the Magistrate is a very rare, unusual thing. My friend Pandit Thakur Das Bhargava said that in the Punjab it is very usual. I accept it. In West Bengal I do not know, but generally, it is very rare. Please remember one thing. To do the Select Committee justice and recognise their anxiety to favour the accused, the moment you give this right of cross-examination, and even though it may not be utilised or taken advantage of, section 288 will come into operation and the commitment Magistrate's evidence can be transposed and taken over on the sessions file. They thought that it should not be done. But, as I said, if the general opinion is that there should be the right of cross-examination, then my friend, Shri Datar has

given a notice of an amendment, and let it be tried out. If there is a strong feeling that this should also apply to the statement of material witnesses who have already been examined under section 164, I have no objection. Let it be done. The result of that will be that the proviso will go. I have no objection. Then there is the end of the matter. So far as the sessions trial is concerned, opinion has been expressed that there may be witnesses, I think, in the warrant case, where you have a deferred cross-examination. That is the only objection that I have seen to the commitment proceedings. I have no objection. There is Shri Datar's amendment and you may put it to the vote without the proviso.

Shri Dabhi: I have an amendment to delete the proviso.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That will be done.

Dr. Katju: Yes. Now, I come back to the warrant case proceedings. I make a fair offer to the House. If the general opinion is that the procedure suggested in the original Bill was desirable, then, I leave it to the House, because the original Bill said that there should be full cross-examination before the Magistrate and a sort of discretionary cross-examination by the Magistrate. That was the original thing. But I do submit that the Select Committee has suggested a good thing. I would ask the hon. Members to prefer it, because in the course of the discussion of this section, I came to know that there is very little sympathy for the prosecution and no sympathy at all for the witnesses. The great demerit of the proposal about all these successive appearances is that the witness has to come times without number. When the Select Committee was dealing with that, we thought that there are the papers and that the accused has been apprised of them. The House may be aware, and I believe Shri N. C. Chatterjee will bear me out, that there is a section which says that the Magistrate may alter a charge in the course of the trial as many times as

[Dr. Katju]

he likes. Therefore, he frames a sort of charge and starts the case. Cross-examination begins. Shri Chatterjee has given notice of an amendment which I am prepared to accept. That amendment is, in order to ensure a full and fair cross-examination it may be adjourned or deferred for the time being when one or two witnesses have been examined. Secondly, it may be left to the discretion of the Magistrate to allow the accused to send for the witness. When he enters on defence, he may say, "I want to cross-examine the prosecution witness," and that is what we call the third right of cross-examination.

I think many of the Magistrates—I am talking of Uttar Pradesh particularly—in warrant cases, frame their charge after examining two or three witnesses. They say to the accused: "The charge is framed; do you want to cross-examine these witnesses who have already been examined?" Then come the rest, the witnesses, and the thing flows.

Shri R. D. Misra: The material witnesses are examined.

Dr. Katju: There is no question of material witnesses. If it is a case under section 323, 325 or if it is a counterfeit coin case, one or two witnesses are examined. Charges are framed.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Very often, the Magistrates take it as a case of discharge, in which case it goes back and comes back. If a charge is framed, there is only a question of acquittal.

Dr. Katju: That is rare, but sometimes, in fairness to the accused, that is also done. A charge is framed, and if the accused is not guilty, he will be acquitted. If there is a case of discharge, there may be an application by any private party. Shri N. C. Chatterjee said: "Look at this; there is a vast difference between a private complaint and a public complaint." I have said times out of number that the great difference that weighed with me throughout these proceedings is

that in the case of a public complaint or a police complaint, there is a general diary; there is the investigation and that is of help in the case. But in the case of a private complaint, there is no such police investigation, no police diary. Therefore, the old procedure is right. My hon. friend Shri Tek Chand, who is not here, said—

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: He is here.

Dr. Katju: I beg your pardon

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Whoever is not in his seat is not generally taken notice of

Dr. Katju: He said something about section 14. I do not know whether he has tabled a motion about it. But we thought that hundred rupees was very insignificant. We have got to raise it. I was rather astonished when he said eloquently that it is false, or frivolous or vexatious.

Shri Tek Chand: False and frivolous, or, in the alternative, frivolous and vexatious.

Dr. Katju: What is the difference? Here is a section which has stood the test of time for the last 80 or 90 years. But here comes my learned friend with his anxiety to change the law. And what is the change? False or frivolous. False or vexatious. A case which is false and frivolous is bound to be vexatious. A case which is false and vexatious is bound to be frivolous. Therefore, I need not go into those matters and I leave the section 34 alone.

My humble suggestion to the hon. Members present here is that you accept the Bill on the lines I have indicated above, and the proviso should go. Shri Datar's amendment should be allowed. So far as the warrant case procedure is concerned, it is a very happy one, and it does full justice to all parties.

Finally, something was said about the examination of the accused. Let us take some realistic views. The Magistrates are not in the habit of digging into matters regarding the accused. They will just ask the accused: "Have you committed this

offence? Have you beaten the man or not?" The answer may be, "No." If there is a third question, then, the accused says: "I reserve my defence, or I do not want to answer this." Finished.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: In addition to the amendments that were moved yesterday, members have indicated to move the following amendments:

Clause 29: 446, 447, 1, 605, 453, 455.

Clause 35: 327, 456, 457, 458, 439.

Clause 29

Shri Frank Anthony: I beg to move:

(i) In page 9, line 1, after "furnished to the accused" insert:

"at least seven clear days before the recording of the statements of any prosecution witnesses".

(ii) In page 9, for lines 4 to 13, substitute:

"(4) The Magistrate shall then proceed to record the statement of all persons whom the prosecution intend to rely upon as their witnesses, provided that no statement shall be recorded under this sub-section of any person whose statement has already been recorded under Section 164."

Shri S. V. Ramaswamy: I beg to move:

In page 9, line 14, omit "not".

Shri Dabhi: I beg to move:

That in the amendment moved by Shri Balwant Nagesh Datar printed as No. 545, omit the proposed proviso to sub-section (4).

Shri Frank Anthony: I beg to move:

(i) In page 9, lines 20 and 21, omit "and has, if necessary, examined the accused".

(ii) In pages 10 and 11, for lines 45 to 49 and lines 1 and 2 respectively, substitute:

"(17) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Code, an enquiry

under this section shall not be adjourned or postponed more than once merely by reason of the fact that any witness whose statement is to be recorded under sub-section (4) is absent or that anyone or more of the accused is or are absent, unless the Magistrate for reasons to be recorded, otherwise directs; it shall not be open to the prosecution to examine a witness, in the trial court, whose statement was not recorded as required by sub-section (4) by the committing court."

Clause 35

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: I beg to move:

In page 12, after line 19, add:

"Provided that the Magistrate may permit the cross-examination of any witness to be deferred until any other witness or witnesses have been examined, or recall any witness for further cross-examination."

Shri Frank Anthony: I beg to move:

(i) In page 11, lines 43 and 44, after "have been furnished to the accused" insert:

"at least seven clear days before the examination, if any, of the prosecution witnesses".

(ii) In page 11, lines 48 and 49, omit "and making such examination, if any, of the accused as the Magistrate thinks necessary".

(iii) In page 12, for lines 20 to 22, substitute:

"(8) Upon taking all the evidence referred to in sub-section (7) and making such examination, if any, of the accused, as the Magistrate thinks necessary, the accused shall then be called upon to enter upon his defence and produce his evidence, if the accused puts in

[Shri Frank Anthony]

any written statement, the Magistrate shall file it with the record."

(iv) In page 12, lines 25 and 26, omit "on his behalf (other than a witness already examined)".

Shri Eaghavachari: The words "if any" occurring in line 5 at page 9, in sub-section (4) of clause 29 will have to be omitted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: "The Magistrate shall then proceed to record the statements of the persons, if any,".....

Shri Raghavachari: Yes. It will have to be omitted. I mean the words, "if any". Now that the proviso goes, the words 'if any' need not be there because all the persons who are connected with it will be examined.

Dr. Katju: It should remain as it is. There may be no witnesses at all. There is no harm in it. It may be a case in which there are, technically speaking, there are no eye witnesses at all. 'If any' means: a witness may be the most material witness but we are here thinking of eye witnesses.

Shri Raghavachari: Your anxiety is that there may be a case where there are no actual witnesses for the actual commission of the offence. The words 'if any' make the thing more troublesome.....

Dr. Katju: What harm does it do? I am not fighting it but what is the harm? It only means witnesses, if any, shall be examined.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I appreciate the Home Minister's fears if the words 'if any' are removed. In every case there ought to be an eye-witness; otherwise, the case would not stand. Therefore, let it remain; there is no harm. Now I shall put the amendments to the vote of the House.

Shri Datar: With regard to 545, I would move an amendment.....

Shri Dabhi: I have given notice of an amendment to remove the proviso.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Let Mr. Dabhi also have a say. He has given his amendment.

Shri Datar: I shall amend my amendment on his asking.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I shall put Mr Dabhi's amendment first and then amendment No. 545 as amended by Mr. Dabhi's amendment.

Shri Datar: The other amendments Nos. 547, 548, etc. are consequential.

Shri Dabhi: My amendment No. 27 is not consequential.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I shall put it also.

The question is:

That in the amendment moved by Shri Balwant Nagesh Datar printed as No. 545, omit the proposed proviso to sub-section (4).

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In page 9, for lines 4 to 13, substitute:

"(4) The Magistrate shall then proceed to take the evidence of such persons, if any, as may be produced by the prosecution as witnesses to the actual commission of the offence alleged; and if the Magistrate is of opinion that it is necessary in the interests of justice to take the evidence of any one or more of the other witnesses for the prosecution, he may take such evidence also.

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In page 9, for lines 14 to 17, substitute:

"(5) The accused shall be at liberty to cross-examine the witnesses examined under sub-section (4), and in such case, the prosecutor may re-examine them."

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is.

In page 9, lines 18 to 19, for "When the statements, if any, have been recorded under sub-section (4)" substitute:

"When the evidence referred to in sub-section (4) has been taken."

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In page 9, line 23, for "statements" substitute "evidence".

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In page 9, line 28, for "such statements being recorded" substitute:

"such evidence being taken".

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In pages 10 and 11, omit lines 45 to 49 and lines 1 and 2 respectively.

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: All the other amendments are barred.

Shri. Yashvi: My amendment No. 27 is not barred.

Shri R. D. Misra: No. 477 is not barred

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Has he given notice of his amendment?

Shri R. D. Misra: Yes, Sir. It has been treated as moved and it is in the list.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Is the Government prepared to accept any of these?

Dr. Katju: No, Sir.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: All right, I shall put them to the vote of the House. The question is:

In page 9, line 37 for "at once" substitute "within three days".

The motion was negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In pages 8 and 9, for lines 24 to 47 and lines 1 to 3 respectively, substitute:

"207. Procedure in inquiries preparatory to commitment.—The following procedure shall be adopted in inquiries before Magistrates where the case is exclusively triable by a Court of Session or High Court, or in the opinion of the Magistrate ought to be tried by such Court.

207A. Procedure to be adopted in commitment proceedings.—(1) (a) When in any proceeding on a police report, the Magistrate receives the report forwarded under section 173, he shall for the purpose of holding an inquiry under this section fix a date which shall be a date not later than fourteen days from the date of the receipt of the report, unless the Magistrate for reasons to be recorded, fixes any later date.

(b) When in any proceeding instituted on a complaint or otherwise, the Magistrate orders the issue of a process for the attendance of the accused under section 204, he shall, for the purpose of holding an inquiry under this section, fix a date not later than fourteen days from the date of such order, unless the Magistrate for reasons to be recorded, fixes any later date, and no process shall be issued unless the complainant files a list of witnesses in the Court.

(2) If at any time before such date, the officer conducting the prosecution, or the complainant or his pleader applies to the Magistrate to issue a process to compel the attendance of any witness or the production of any document or thing, the Magistrate shall issue such process unless, for reasons to be recorded, he deems it unnecessary to do so.

(3) At the commencement of the inquiry, the Magistrate shall, when

[Mr. Deputy-Speaker]

the accused appears or is brought before him, satisfy himself that the documents referred to in section 173 in police cases, and the copies of the complaint, of statements of the complainant and of witnesses recorded under section 200 and section 202 by a Magistrate or police-officer, of first information report, if any, and of all other documents or relevant extracts thereof on which the complainant proposes to rely, have been furnished to the accused, and if he finds that the accused has not been furnished with such documents or any of them, he shall cause the same to be furnished."

The motion was negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clause 29, as amended, stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 29, as amended, was added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Now, clause 35.

Shri N. C. Chatterjee: The Minister said he would accept my amendment No. 327.....

Shri Dabhi: My amendment No. 9 is first.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Then, Shri N. C. Chatterjee's amendment No. 327.

Shri Datar: That is accepted by us.

Shri Dabhi: My amendment is No. 9. That has been acceptable. It is the same.

Shri Tek Chand: Shri N. C. Chatterjee's amendment is more comprehensive and clear. That may be put to the House.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I will put the comprehensive one whichever it might be. They are exactly word for word the same.

Dr. Katju: You may put to the House Shri N. C. Chatterjee's amendment.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Let the Opposition have an amendment. The question is:

In page 12, after line 19, add:

"Provided that, when the accused may permit the cross-examination of any witness to be deferred until any other witness or witnesses have been examined, or recall any witness for further cross-examination."

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Any witness or witnesses: Any witness means any, singular includes plural. Amendment No. 327 is adopted. Then amendment No. 562 of Shri Sadhan Gupta. Is it accepted?

Dr. Katju: We will accept it.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

In page 12, for lines 23 to 31, substitute:

"(9) If the accused, after he has entered upon his defence, applies to the Magistrate to issue any process for compelling the attendance of any witness for the purpose of examination or cross-examination, or the production of any document or other thing, the Magistrate shall issue such process unless he considers that such application should be refused on the ground that it is made for the purpose of vexation or delay or for defeating the ends of justice. Such ground shall be recorded by him in writing.

Provided that, when the accused has cross-examined or had the opportunity of cross-examining any witness after the charge is framed, the attendance of such witness shall not be compelled under this section, unless the Magistrate is satisfied that it is necessary for the purpose of justice."

The motion was adopted.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I shall now put all the other amendments to clause 35.

The amendments were negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clause 35, as amended, stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 35, as amended, was added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I will now take up the less contentious clauses. Clause 26. Amendment No. 111. It has been moved. Hon. Members who have tabled amendments are not here. I think the rules must be amended. It should be said that if a Member is not present in the House at the time the amendment is put to the House, it will be taken to have been withdrawn. *Otherwise, they will not care to be in the House.* It is surprising that another man has to carry their children. Whether the Member is present or not, I am bound to put it to the House. The question is:

In page 8, lines 6 to 8, omit "and shall be signed by the complainant and the witnesses".

The motion was negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clause 26 stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 26 was added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: There are no amendments to clause 27. The question is:

"That clause 27 stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 27 was added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Clause 28. The amendments are 476, 441, 113 and 544.

Shri R. D. Misra: Amendment No. 113 may be put to the House.

Shri Datar: We do not accept it.

Shri R. D. Misra: If you read it, he will accept, I think.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: They must have looked into it already. Is there not any section in the Penal Code that civil offences need not be taken notice of? The question is:

In page 8, after line 20, add:

"(1C) In any proceeding whether instituted on complaint or on police report regarding offences punishable with imprisonment not exceeding one year or fine or both, if the Magistrate is of the opinion that the offence is of a trivial nature and the accused does not deserve to be punished with a fine exceeding fifty rupees he may pass a conditional order of fine as he may think proper to meet the ends of justice, and give option to the accused either to remit such amount of fine to the Court as mentioned in the summons or appear before the Court to stand his trial on the date fixed for it in the summons. If the accused remits such amount of fine on or before the date of hearing of the case, the case shall be disposed of as if the accused pleaded guilty and convicted for the offence."

The motion was negatived.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: Amendment No. 441 may be put to the House. Amendment 476 may be disposed of in a summary manner. I do not know whether the Government will accept amendment No. 441. They may accept.

Dr. Katju: This is all covered. We do not propose to accept.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I shall now put all the other amendments to clause 28.

The amendments were negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clause 28 stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 28 was added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: We have already disposed of clause 29, and clause 35. Now, I shall put clauses 30, 31, 33 and 34. I shall first put the amendments to these clauses.

The amendments were negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clauses 30, 31, 33 and 34 stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clauses 30, 31, 33 and 34 were added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The amendments with respect to these clauses have now been negatived, since the clauses are accepted.

Shri R. D. Misra: I have got amendment No. 64 to clause 33.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That has been put to vote and lost. I put all the amendments together a little while ago. The hon. Member has missed the bus.

Shri R. D. Misra: My amendment relates to clause 33.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I know that. I put clauses 30, 31, 33 and 34 to vote, and since they have been accepted, the amendments relating to these clauses have been lost.

Shri R. D. Misra: But you have not read out the amendment. If the complainant is represented by a pleader, why should he be present every day? My amendment reads:

"Provided that where the complainant is represented by a pleader and he is present on his

behalf the Magistrate shall not dismiss the complaint and proceed with the case in case the presence of the complainant is not necessary for recording his statement or for cross-examination."

It is a simple thing.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: It is true that that is the amendment. But there is no time now for arguing particular amendments. If any hon. Member wanted his amendment to be put to vote separately, I would have put it separately and invoked the decision of the House on that. But now, it is too late. The amendment is lost.

Now, I come to clause 36. I shall put amendment No. 301 to vote.

The question is:

In page 13, for clause 36, substitute:

"36. Amendment of section 252, Act V of 1898.— In section 252 of the principal Act,—

(a) to sub-section (1), the following further proviso shall be added, namely:—

"Provided further that the Magistrate may permit only such cross-examination of the prosecution witnesses at this stage as he may deem necessary in the interest of justice.";

(b) after sub-section (1), the following new sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

"(1A) In any proceeding instituted on a police report, the Magistrate shall before commencing the trial under sub-section (1), satisfy himself that all the documents referred to in section 173 have been furnished to the accused and if he finds that any such document has not been so furnished he shall cause the same to be furnished to the accused."; and

(c) in sub-section (2), before the words "The Magistrate" the words "In any proceeding insti-

tuted on a private complaint" shall be inserted."

The motion was negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clause 36 stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 36 was added to the Bill.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I shall now put all the amendments seeking to introduce new clauses in this group of clauses.

The amendments were negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clause 32 stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clause 32 was added to the Bill.

Clauses 37 and 38 were added to the Bill.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: What about my amendment No. 521 seeking to introduce a new clause 89A? That is a consequential amendment, based on the amendment to section 207A and others.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: This group consists only of clauses 26 to 38.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: The point is that this amendment is consequential on the amendments effected to this group. If you rule so, I shall put it in the other group. But it seems to belong logically to this group.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: What is the attitude of the hon. Minister?

Dr. Katju: It may be considered, when clause 89 comes up.

Clauses 39 to 60

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Now, we shall take up the next group of clauses, namely clauses 39 to 60. Hon. Members who want to move amendments

may pass on the charts indicating the numbers of the amendments to the Table here.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: In this group of sections, we are concerned with a very important matter, namely the right of trial by jury. Our British masters had provided for two kinds of trials, one kind by jury and the other kind by assessors, in sessions cases. The real reason behind this distinction was that our British masters had a contempt for us natives, and they wanted to proclaim to the world that we were an inferior kind of humanity which was not fit to be entrusted with the work of jury trials except in a few places where the benign influence of Britain was felt; except where Government might prescribe that the trial will be by jury, in all other cases, the general rule prescribed was that the trial should be by assessors. Now, this provision implies a contempt for our intelligence, a contempt for our capacity, and a condemnation of our efficiency. One would expect that a Government which claims to be a national government would at least rid us of this slur, and not embody this in a Bill which it brings. But as it happens today, this slur is being perpetuated; the British proclamation is being corroborated by Dr. Katju's Bill. We have proposed numerous amendments, which aim at introducing jury trial as a general rule.

In this connection, I am quite aware of the objection that the jury have not proved satisfactory in many cases. But that is not the fault of the system; that is the fault of the authorities which choose the jury. I have seen in cases, particularly in the mofussil, that the jury are usually selected from the decadent landlord class which has become corrupt, which is open to all kinds of corruption, and that is why the jury have been proved to be unsatisfactory. What has to be done is to choose the right kind of people, and if we choose them, we have nothing to fear from jury trials. That is why, as I said, by our amendments we have sought to make it universal. But we

[Shri Sadhan Gupta]

must indicate our position regarding the provisions, as they stand, because we do not hope that our progressive amendments will be accepted by this Government. Without these amendments we must make it clear that an assessor trial is much better than a trial only by the Judge himself. We are absolutely certain that an assessor trial is not a good thing. It is not a substitute for jury trial. It is not an alternative to jury trial. But what we must make clear is where jury trial is not prescribed, then some amount of association of the common people even by way of an assessor trial is much more desirable than a trial only by the Judge himself. Of course, if the trial could be by a body of common men who could bring their understanding of the evidence to bear upon the case, it would be a highly desirable thing. After all, the judiciary, particularly our judiciary, are trained in a certain way which makes them appreciate the evidence in a particular manner. When any evidence comes before a Court of law, what the Court will be concerned with, by virtue of their training, is whether there is corroboration of the evidence, whether witnesses contradict each other. These are the supreme factors which often weigh with the Court in analysing, sifting and weighing evidence. But a common man who is unsophisticated in the sense that he is not trained in the technicalities of law, can bring to bear commonsense, he can bring to bear a human appreciation on the evidence given before him by watching the demeanour of witnesses. By falling back on his experience, he can say that even though there is no contradiction between witnesses, even though many witnesses corroborate each other, yet the way they gave evidence and the circumstances are such that in spite of an apparent unimpeachability in the evidence, the evidence is not to be relied on. This is a commonsense which only a layman can bring to bear because we, lawyers, have a training of weighing evidence by sheer numbers or by discrepancy or otherwise

between witnesses. Now, that is a very important thing. We are all for it. But if that is not to be had, then we would rather that some amount of association of the common people should be retained and even if it be subject to the veto of the Judge, it is a better thing than no association of the common people at all. Let me make myself clear that we oppose assessor trials, but we have to accept that alternative as a necessary evil, at least a better evil than the evil of a trial without the association of the common people.

Now, Sir, I would appeal to the Home Minister not to echo in this Bill the insulting condemnation that our British oppressors made of our people, that they are unfit to be associated with the administration of justice. Wherever jurors have been properly chosen, wherever reliance was not being placed too much on the morally decadent class of landlords who are the trusted people of the authorities, the jury have done a good job and have contributed to a humane administration of justice. Let us rely on our own people and choose the right kind of jurors and we shall have a system which will be beneficial for administration of justice in our country and of which we will be able to take legitimate pride.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The hon. Minister.

Shri Datar: No one wants to speak?

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Why is he surprised? So far as the contentious matter is concerned, there has been sufficient discussion. Has the hon. Minister to say nothing more?

Shri Datar: Nothing more.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: What about the amendments?

Shri V. P. Nayar (Chirayinkil): This is unprecedented?

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: He may give the amendments.

Shri V. P. Nayar: He has an obvious difficulty in writing down numbers.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: That is why I have been more than ordinarily indulgent towards him.

Shri V. P. Nayar: We will finish in half a minute and hand it over to you.

Shri Raghavachari: There is no quorum in the House.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I will call quorum.

Shri Sadhan Gupta: My amendments are Nos. 589 to 603. You may put them as you like.

Shri Raghavachari: There is no quorum.

Shri V. P. Nayar: You cannot put it to vote without quorum.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I will ring the bell.

Now there is quorum.

The following are the amendments: Amendments Nos. 589 to 603, Nos. 74 to 92 and Nos. 142 and 143.

Clause 39

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 13, line 24, for "either by jury or by the Judge himself" substitute "by jury".

Clause 40

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

(1) In page 13, omit lines 27 to 29.

(2) In page 13, omit lines 30 to 43.

(3) In page 13, lines 36 and 37, for "two weeks" substitute "ten weeks".

(4) In page 13, lines 37 to 39, omit "or that the case would involve consideration of evidence of a highly technical nature, which renders it undesirable that it should be tried by a jury".

Clause 41

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move.

(1) In page 13, line 50, omit "in a case triable by jury".

(2) In page 14, lines 1 and 2, omit "but in any other case, the Judge shall proceed to try the case himself."

(3) In page 14, line 3, omit "in cases triable by jury".

Clause 45

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 15, lines 6 and 7, omit "or in any other case, when the Judge is ready to hear the case".

Clause 47

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 15, for clause 47, substitute:

"47. Amendment of section 289, Act V of 1898.—In section 289 of the principal Act,—

(a) in sub-section (2), the words 'in a case tried with the aid of assessors' shall be omitted.

(b) in sub-section (3), the words 'in a case tried with the aid of assessors' shall be omitted."

Clause 55

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 5, line 43, after "shall" insert "if he does not acquit such accused person."

Clause 56

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 16, for clause 56, substitute:

"56. Omission of sub-head H and section 309 in Act V of 1898.—Sub-head H and section 309 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 57

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 16, for lines 14 to 23, substitute:

'(a) the words "In the case of a trial by a jury or with the aid of assessors" shall be omitted;

(b) in sub-clause (ii) of clause (a) the words "or the opinions of

[Shri Sadhan Gupta]

the assessors have been recorded" shall be omitted; and

(c) clause (b) shall be omitted."

Clause 50

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 16, line 30, for "332 and 339A" substitute "and 332".

New clause 60A

Shri Sadhan Gupta: I beg to move:

In page 17, after line 9, insert:

'60A. Amendment of section 339A, Act V of 1898.—In sub-section (2) of section 339A of the principal Act, the words "or the Court with the aid of the assessors" shall be omitted.'

Clause 39

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

In page 13, line 24.—

- (i) omit "either by jury or"; and
- (ii) omit "himself"

Clause 40

Shr. R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

In page 13, for clause 40 substitute:

"40. Omission of section 269, Act V of 1898.—Section 269 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 41

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

(1) (i) In page 13, line 50 and in page 14, lines 1 and 2, omit "in a case triable by jury, proceed to choose jurors as hereinafter directed and to try the case, but in any other case, the Judge shall"; and

(ii) In page 14, line 2, omit "himself".

(?) In page 14, omit lines 3 to 5.

Clause 42

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

In page 14, for clause 42 substitute:

"42. Omission of sections 274, 275, 276, 277, 278, 279, 280, 281, 282, and 283, Act V of 1898.—Sections 274, 275, 276, 277, 278, 279, 280, 281, 282 and 283 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 45

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

In page 15, for clause 45 substitute:

"45. Substitution of new section for section 286 in Act V of 1898.—For section 286 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:

'286. Opening case for prosecution.—(1) The prosecutor shall open his case by reading from the Indian Penal Code or other law the description of the offence charged and stating shortly by what evidence he expects to prove the guilt of the accused.

(2) The prosecutor shall then examine his witnesses.'

Clause 47

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

In page 15, for clause 47 substitute:

'47. Amendment of section 289, Act V of 1898.—In sub-section (2) and sub-section (3) of section 289 of the principal Act, for the words "in a case tried with the aid of assessors, record a finding, or, in a case tried by a jury, direct the jury to return a verdict of not guilty" the words "record its reasons and acquit the accused" shall be substituted.'

Clause 49

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:

In page 15, for clause 49, substitute:

"49. Omission of section 293, in Act V of 1898.—Section 293 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 50

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, for clause 50, substitute:

"50. Omission of section 294 in Act V of 1898.—Section 294 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 51

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, for clause 51 substitute:

"51. Omission of sections 295 and 296 in Act of 1898.—Sections 295 and 296 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 52

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, for clause 52, substitute:

"52. Omission of sections 297, 298, 299 and 300 in Act V of 1898.—Sections 297, 298, 299 and 300 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 53

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, for clause 53, substitute:

"53. Omission of section 301 in Act V of 1898.—Section 301 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 54

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, for clause 54 substitute:

"54. Omission of section 302 in Act V of 1898.—Section 302 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

New Clause 54A

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
(1) In page 15, after line 37, insert:
"54A. Omission of sections 303 and 304, in Act V of 1898.—Sections 303 and 304 of the principal Act shall be omitted."
(2) In page 15, after line 37, insert:

"54A. Omission of sections 305 and 306 in Act V of 1898.—Sections

305 and 306 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 55

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, for clause 55 substitute:

"55. Omission of section 307 in Act V of 1898.—Section 307 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

New Clause 55A

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 15, after line 48, insert:
"55A. Omission of section 308 in Act V of 1898.—Section 308 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 56

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 16, for clause 56 substitute:

"56. Substitution of new section for section 309, Act V of 1898.—For section 309 of the principal Act the following section shall be substituted, namely:

'309. Judgment.—When in any case under this chapter the Judge does not proceed under section 562 he shall if he finds the accused guilty pass sentence upon him according to law.'

Clause 57

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move:
In page 16, for clause 57 substitute:

"57. Substitution of new section for section 310 in Act V of 1898.—For section 310 of the principal Act the following section shall be substituted, namely:

'310. Procedure in case of previous conviction.—In a case where a previous conviction is charged under the provisions of section 221, sub-section (7) and the accused does not admit that he has been previously convicted as alleged in the charge, the court may, after he has convicted the said accused under section 271 or 309 take evidence in respect of the alleged

[Shri R. D. Misra]

previous conviction and shall record a finding thereon and pass sentence upon him according to law."

Clause 58

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move: In page 16, for clause 58, substitute:

"58. Omission of sections 312, 313, 314, 315, 316, 317, 318 and 319, in Act V of 1898.—Sections 312, 313, 314, 315, 316, 317, 318 and 319 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Clause 59

Shri R. D. Misra: I beg to move: In page 16, for clause 59, substitute:

"59. Omission of sections 320, 321, 322, 323, 324, 325, 326, 327, 328, 329, 330, 331 and 332 in Act V of 1898.—Sections 320, 321, 322, 323, 324, 325, 326, 327, 328, 329, 330, 331 and 332 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: These amendments are now placed before the House. Much has been said about the jury. Jury does not disappear. Assessors go.

Shri Raghavachari: We do not want to waste time. But it must be done in a proper manner.

Shri V. P. Nayar: I do not think quorum existed in the earlier stage.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: If there is no quorum, we will adjourn the House.

Shri V. P. Nayar: The response to the Bill has been so very good!

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: Hon. Members are well aware that enough opportunity has been given to all Members. So

far as the contentious provisions are concerned, naturally hon. Members are tired in arguing on them and they did not want to devote themselves with respect to the other matters, except of course to fill in the quorum.

Now, I will put the amendments to the vote of the House. These relate to the group of clauses 39 to 60. I shall put all the amendments together unless any hon. Member wants a particular amendment to be put separately.

Shri R. D. Misra: Regarding amendment No. 74, I want to say something. Is the discussion closed?

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The discussion is closed already. The hon. Member need not get up.

The question is:

In page 13, line 24—

- (i) omit "either by jury or"; and
- (ii) omit "himself".

The motion was negatived.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: I shall now put all the other amendments to the vote of the House.

The amendments were negatived.

5 P.M.

Mr. Deputy-Speaker: The question is:

"That clauses 39 to 60, stand part of the Bill."

The motion was adopted.

Clauses 39 to 60 were added to the Bill.

The Lok Sabha then adjourned till Eleven of the Clock on Thursday, the 2nd December, 1954.